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Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

(1) Consolidated Statement of Income 
    (Millions of yen)  (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 Note 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
 

Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Revenue 6 1,603,672  1,912,323  $12,749 

Cost of sales  (292,485)  (349,206)  (2,328) 

Gross profit  1,311,187  1,563,117  10,421 

       

Selling, general and 

administrative expenses 
 (740,110)  (843,032) 

 
(5,620) 

Research and development 

expenses 
 (294,187)  (327,651) 

 
(2,184) 

Amortisation of intangible assets 17 (98,820)  (136,762)  (912) 

Gain on divestiture of intangible 

assets 
17 9,735  1,049 

 
7 

Share of profit (loss) of 

investments accounted for using 

equity method 

 (3,165)  (259) 

 

(2) 

Other income 7 8,691  20,344  136 

Other expenses 8 (167,814)  (235,768)  (1,572) 

Operating profit  25,518  41,039  274 

       

Finance income 10 11,455  7,874  52 

Finance expenses 11 (12,005)  (17,677)  (118) 

Profit before tax  24,969  31,237  208 

Income tax expense 12 (7,924)  19,510  130 

Profit  17,045  50,747  $338 

       

Profit attributable to:       

Owners of the parent  17,045  50,747  338 

       

Earnings per share:  (Yen)  (Yen)  (U.S. dollars) 

Basic 13  9.51   28.35   $0.19 

Diluted 13  9.47   28.24   0.19 
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(2) Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
    (Millions of yen)  (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 Note 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024  
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Profit  17,045  50,747  $338 

       

Other comprehensive income       

Items that will not be reclassified 

to profit or loss 
    

 
 

Financial assets measured at 

fair value through other 

comprehensive income 

 (5,868)  3,251 

 

22 

Remeasurements of defined 

benefit plans 
 5,965  4,607 

 
31 

Subtotal  96  7,858  52 

       

Items that may be reclassified to 

profit or loss 
    

 
 

Exchange differences on 

translation of foreign 

operations 

14 194,026  (9,716) 

 

(65) 

Cash flow hedges 14 (7,682)  －  － 

Hedging cost 14 2,098  －  － 

Subtotal  188,442  (9,716)  (65) 

       

Other comprehensive income  188,538  (1,858)  (12) 

       

Total comprehensive income  205,583  48,888  $326 

       

Total comprehensive income 

attributable to: 
    

 
 

Owners of the parent  205,583  48,888  326 
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(3) Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
    (Millions of yen)  (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 Note 
As of 

31 March 2024 
 

As of 
31 March 2025 

 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Assets       

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and 

equipment 
15 293,742  328,921  $2,193 

Goodwill 16 418,694  415,207  2,768 

Intangible assets 17 1,453,824  1,123,714  7,491 

Trade and other receivables 20 20,043  18,453  123 

Investments accounted for 

using equity method 
 15,684  18,989  127 

Deferred tax assets 18 45,594  98,113  654 

Other financial assets 29 108,694  106,195  708 

Other non-current assets  18,597  28,602  191 

Total non-current assets  2,374,873  2,138,195  14,255 

       

Current assets       

Inventories 19 248,738  297,261  1,982 

Trade and other receivables 20 534,985  632,525  4,217 

Income tax receivable  13,051  13,691  91 

Other financial assets 29 28,784  29,941  200 

Other current assets  32,241  39,197  261 

Cash and cash equivalents 21 335,687  188,372  1,256 

Subtotal  1,193,485  1,200,986  8,007 

Assets held for sale  1,245  363  2 

Total current assets  1,194,730  1,201,349  8,009 

Total assets  3,569,603  3,339,544  $22,264 
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    (Millions of yen)  (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 Note 
As of 

31 March 2024 
 

As of 
31 March 2025 

 As of 
31 March 2025 

Equity and liabilities       

Equity       

Share capital 22 103,001  103,001  $687 

Capital surplus 22 184,070  185,259  1,235 

Treasury shares 22 (33,783)  (37,524)  (250) 

Retained earnings  809,400  740,939  4,940 

Other components of equity  533,300  521,580  3,477 

Total equity attributable to 

owners of the parent 
 1,595,988  1,513,255  10,088 

Total equity  1,595,988  1,513,255  10,088 

       

Liabilities       

Non-current liabilities       

Bonds and borrowings 29 447,738  564,893  3,766 

Trade and other payables 28 2,199  －  － 

Income tax payable  －  3,230  22 

Deferred tax liabilities 18 51,346  5,353  36 

Retirement benefit 

liabilities 
25 24,674  22,746  152 

Provisions 26 7,369  8,130  54 

Other financial liabilities 29 105,602  106,759  712 

Other non-current 

liabilities 
27 48,962  53,569  357 

Total non-current liabilities  687,889  764,679  5,098 

       

Current liabilities       

Bonds and borrowings  29 472,278  266,533  1,777 

Trade and other payables 28 185,193  187,840  1,252 

Income tax payable  38,515  34,549  230 

Provisions 26 15,700  17,291  115 

Other financial liabilities 29 97,565  20,144  134 

Other current liabilities 27 476,474  535,254  3,568 

Total current liabilities  1,285,725  1,061,610  7,077 

Total liabilities  1,973,615  1,826,289  12,175 

Total equity and liabilities  3,569,603  3,339,544  $22,264 
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(4) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
      (Millions of yen) 

 

Note 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 

 

Share capital 
Capital 
Surplus 

Treasury 
shares 

Retained 

earnings 

Other components of equity 

 
Subscription 

rights to shares 

Exchange 

differences on 

translation of 

foreign 

operations 

As of 1 April 2023  103,001 181,280 (25,123) 908,158 536 324,276 

Comprehensive income        

Profit  － － － 17,045 － － 

Other comprehensive income  － － － － － 194,026 

Total comprehensive income  － － － 17,045 － 194,026 

Transactions with owners        

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 － － (10,735) － － － 

Disposals of treasury shares 22 － (1,452) 2,075 (450) (161) － 

Dividends 23 － － － (116,653) － － 

Share-based payments 24 － 4,242 － － － － 

Transfer to retained earnings  － － － 1,300 － － 

Transfer to non-financial 

assets 
 － － － － － － 

Total transactions with owners  － 2,790 (8,660) (115,803) (161) － 

As of 31 March 2024  103,001 184,070 (33,783) 809,400 376 518,302 

Comprehensive income        

Profit  － － － 50,747 － － 

Other comprehensive income  － － － － － (9,716) 

Total comprehensive income  － － － 50,747 － (9,716) 

Transactions with owners        

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 － － (6,960) － － － 

Disposals of treasury shares 22 － (3,136) 3,219 － (78) － 

Dividends 23 － － － (128,993) － － 

Share-based payments 24 － 4,325 － － － － 

Transfer to retained earnings  － － － 9,784 － － 

Total transactions with owners  － 1,189 (3,740) (119,208) (78) － 

As of 31 March 2025  103,001 185,259 (37,524) 740,939 298 508,585 
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       (Millions of yen) 

 

Note 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 

Total equity 

 Other components of equity 

Total 
 

Cash flow 

hedges 
Hedging cost 

Financial 

assets 

measured at 

fair value 

through other 

comprehen-

sive income 

Remeasure-

ments 

of defined 

benefit plans 

Total 

As of 1 April 2023  － － 15,827 － 340,640 1,507,954 1,507,954 

Comprehensive income         

Profit  － － － － － 17,045 17,045 

Other comprehensive income  (7,682) 2,098 (5,868) 5,965 188,538 188,538 188,538 

Total comprehensive income  (7,682) 2,098 (5,868) 5,965 188,538 205,583 205,583 

Transactions with owners          

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 － － － － － (10,735) (10,735) 

Disposals of treasury shares 22 － － － － (161) 12 12 

Dividends 23 － － － － － (116,653) (116,653) 

Share-based payments 24 － － － － － 4,242 4,242 

Transfer to retained earnings  － － 4,664 (5,965) (1,300) － － 

Transfer to non-financial 

assets 
 7,682 (2,098) － － 5,584 5,584 5,584 

Total transactions with owners  7,682 (2,098) 4,664 (5,965) 4,123 (117,550) (117,550) 

As of 31 March 2024  － － 14,623 － 533,300 1,595,988 1,595,988 

Comprehensive income         

Profit  － － － － － 50,747 50,747 

Other comprehensive income  － － 3,251 4,607 (1,858) (1,858) (1,858) 

Total comprehensive income  － － 3,251 4,607 (1,858) 48,888 48,888 

Transactions with owners         

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 － － － － － (6,960) (6,960) 

Disposals of treasury shares 22 － － － － (78) 6 6 

Dividends 23 － － － － － (128,993) (128,993) 

Share-based payments 24 － － － － － 4,325 4,325 

Transfer to retained earnings  － － (5,177) (4,607) (9,784) － － 

Total transactions with owners  － － (5,177) (4,607) (9,862) (131,622) (131,622) 

As of 31 March 2025  － － 12,697 － 521,580 1,513,255 1,513,255 
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      (Millions of U.S dollars) 

 

Note 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 

 

Share capital 
Capital 
Surplus 

Treasury 
shares 

Retained 

earnings 

Other components of equity 

 
Subscription 

rights to shares 

Exchange 

differences on 

translation of 

foreign 

operations 

As of 31 March 2024  $687 $1,227 $(225) $5,396 $3 $3,455 

Comprehensive income        

Profit  － － － 338 － － 

Other comprehensive income  － － － － － (65) 

Total comprehensive income  － － － 338 － (65) 

Transactions with owners        

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 － － (46) － － － 

Disposals of treasury shares 22 － (21) 21 － (1) － 

Dividends 23 － － － (860) － － 

Share-based payments 24 － 29 － － － － 

Transfer to retained earnings  － － － 65 － － 

Total transactions with owners  － 8 (25) (795) (1) － 

As of 31 March 2025  $687 $1,235 $(250) $4,940 $2 $3,391 
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       (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 

Note 

Equity attributable to owners of the parent 

Total equity 

 Other components of equity 

Total 
 

Cash flow 

hedges 
Hedging cost 

Financial 

assets 

measured at 

fair value 

through other 

comprehen-

sive income 

Remeasure-

ments 

of defined 

benefit plans 

Total 

As of 31 March 2024  $－ $－ $97 $－ $3,555 $10,640 $10,640 

Comprehensive income         

Profit  － － － － － 338 338 

Other comprehensive income  － － 22 31 (12) (12) (12) 

Total comprehensive income  － － 22 31 (12) 326 326 

Transactions with owners         

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 － － － － － (46) (46) 

Disposals of treasury shares 22 － － － － (1) 0 0 

Dividends 23 － － － － － (860) (860) 

Share-based payments 24 － － － － － 29 29 

Transfer to retained earnings  － － (35) (31) (65) － － 

Total transactions with owners  － － (35) (31) (66) (877) (877) 

As of 31 March 2025  $－ $－ $85 $－ $3,477 $10,088 $10,088 
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(5) Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
    (Millions of yen)  (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 Note 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
 

Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

 Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

Cash flows from operating activities       

Profit before tax  24,969  31,237  $208 

Depreciation and amortisation  157,840  199,132  1,328 

Impairment losses (reversal of 

impairment losses) 
 78,931  187,564 

 
1,250 

Finance income and expenses  549  9,803  65 

(Increase) decrease in 

inventories 
 (60,036)  (50,225) 

 
(335) 

(Increase) decrease in trade and 

other receivables 
 (55,948)  (104,735) 

 
(698) 

Increase (decrease) in trade and 

other payables 
 29,466  (11,409) 

 
(76) 

Other  34,816  18,622  124 

Subtotal  210,587  279,989  1,867 

Income tax paid  (38,112)  (85,478)  (570) 

Net cash flows from operating 

activities 
 172,475  194,512 

 
1,297 

Cash flows from investing activities       

Purchases of property, plant and 

equipment 
 (38,056)  (37,003) 

 
(247) 

Purchases of intangible assets  (44,441)  (20,327)  (136) 

Proceeds from sales of 

intangible assets 
 11,003  1,159 

 
8 

Proceeds from sales of equity 

instruments 
 －  12,920 

 
86 

Payments for acquisition of 

subsidiaries 
31 (784,974)  － 

- 
－ 

Interest and dividends received  8,850  7,101  47 

Other  1,816  (53,269)  (355) 

Net cash flows provided by 

(used in) investing activities 
 (845,802)  (89,419) 

 
(596) 

Cash flows from financing activities       

Increase (decrease) in short-term 

borrowings and commercial 

papers 

31 324,337  (236,449) 

 

(1,576) 

Proceeds from issuance of 

bonds and long-term borrowings 
31 472,275  200,000 

 
1,333 

Redemption of bonds and 

repayments of long-term 

borrowings 

31 (25,379)  (52,073) 

 

(347) 

Acquisition of treasury shares 22 (10,735)  (6,960)  (46) 

Dividends paid to owners of the 

parent 
23 (116,653)  (128,993) 

 
(860) 

Repayments of lease liabilities 31 (13,246)  (13,079)  (87) 

Other  (16,539)  (23,814)  (159) 

Net cash flows provided by 

(used in) financing activities 
 614,060  (261,367) 

 
(1,742) 
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    (Millions of yen)  (Millions of U.S. dollars) 

 Note 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
 

Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

 Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

Effect of exchange rate changes on 

cash and cash equivalents 
 18,113  8,960 

 
60 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 
 (41,153)  (147,315) 

 
(982) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the year 
21 376,840  335,687 

 
2,238 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the year 
21 335,687  188,372 

 
$1,256 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
1. Reporting Entity 

Astellas Pharma Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are engaged in the manufacture and sales of 

pharmaceutical products. The parent company of the Group, Astellas Pharma Inc. (the “Company”), is incorporated in 

Japan, and the registered address of headquarters and principal business offices are available on the Company’s 

website (https://www.astellas.com/en/). Also, shares of the Company are publicly traded on the Tokyo Stock Exchange 

(Prime Market). 

The Group’s Japanese language consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 were 

authorised for issue on 16 June 2025 by Naoki Okamura, Representative Director, President and Chief Executive 

Officer, and Atsushi Kitamura, Corporate Executive, Chief Financial Officer. 

These English language consolidated financial statements were approved by them subsequently on 6 August 

2025. There are no material differences between these consolidated financial statements and the Japanese language 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

2. Basis of Preparation 

(1) Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

(2) Basis of measurement 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial 

instruments measured at fair value, etc. 

 

(3) Presentation currency 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Japanese yen, which is also the Company’s functional 

currency, and figures are rounded to the nearest million yen, except as otherwise indicated. 

For the convenience of readers, the accompanying consolidated financial statements are also presented in U.S. 

dollars by translating Japanese yen amounts at the exchange rate of ¥150 to U.S. $1, the approximate rate of 

exchange as of 31 March 2025. Such translations should not be construed as representations that the Japanese yen 

amounts could be converted into U.S. dollars at the above or any other rate. 

 

(4) IFRS standards and interpretations issued but not yet adopted 

The following is a list of the major new or amended IFRS standards and interpretations that the Group has not early 

adopted among those issued by the date of the approval of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The effect 

of the application of the new IFRS standard on the Group's consolidated financial statements is still under 

consideration. 

IFRS 

Effective date 
(fiscal year 

beginning on or 
after) 

The Group's 
application date 

(fiscal year 
ending) 

Outline of new or amended IFRS standards 
and interpretations 

IFRS 18 

Presentation and 
Disclosure in 
Financial 
Statements 

1 January 2027 31 March 2028 

Introduces new requirements to improve 

companies’ reporting of financial performance 

and give investors a better basis for analysing 

and comparing companies 
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3. Material Accounting Policies 
The material accounting policies of the Group set forth below are applied continuously to all periods presented in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

(1) Basis of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed or has 

rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity, and has the ability to affect those returns through its 

power over the entity. The Group begins consolidation of a subsidiary from the date the Group obtains control of the 

subsidiary, and ceases when the Group loses control. 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, transactions and unrealised gains or losses arising from intragroup transactions 

are eliminated on consolidation. 

 

(ii) Associates 

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence on their financial and operating policies but 

does not have control or joint control. If the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of an entity, it 

is presumed that the Group has significant influence over the entity. The Group accounts for investments in 

associates using the equity method. 

 

(iii) Joint arrangements 

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control is the 

contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 

activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. Joint arrangements in which the Group has 

an interest are classified and accounted for as follows: 

 Joint operation—when the Group has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to an 

arrangement, it recognises its assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, in relation to its interest in the joint 

operation. 

 Joint venture—when the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, it accounts for its interest in the 

joint venture using the equity method. 

 

(2) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. 

The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value and calculated as the sum of 

the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, the liabilities incurred by the Group to former 

owners of the acquiree, and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also includes any 

assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. 

The identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed that meet the recognition 

principles of IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are measured at their acquisition-date fair values, except: 

 Deferred tax assets or liabilities, liabilities (or assets, if any) related to employee benefits, and liabilities or equity 

instruments related to share-based payment transactions are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 

“Income Taxes,” IAS 19 “Employee Benefits,” and IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment,” respectively; and 

 Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured in accordance with IFRS 5 “Non-

current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.” 

 For Leases identified in accordance with IFRS 16 “Leases” ,where the acquiree is the lessee, lease liabilities are 

measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments as of the acquisition date, and right-of-use assets 

are measured at the same amount as the lease liabilities, adjusted for any favourable or unfavourable terms of the 

lease compared to market conditions. 

The Group measures goodwill as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of 

any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of the equity interests in the acquiree 

previously held by the Group over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the 

liabilities assumed. If the excess is negative, a gain is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 

Acquisition-related costs incurred to effect business combinations are accounted for as expenses when incurred. 
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(3) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

The individual financial statements of each entity of the Group are prepared in their respective functional currencies. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in Japanese yen, which is the functional currency 

of the Company. 

(ii) Transactions in foreign currencies 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the spot exchange rate at the date 

of the transaction or an approximation of the rate. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of reporting period are translated 

into the functional currency using the spot exchange rates at the end of reporting period and exchange differences 

arising from translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Foreign operations 

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented of foreign operations are translated into 

Japanese yen using the spot exchange rate at the end of reporting period. Income and expenses for each statement 

presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income are translated into Japanese yen using the average 

exchange rate for the period. 

Exchange differences arising on translating the financial statements of foreign operations are recognised in 

other comprehensive income. On the disposal of the interest in a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the 

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 

 

(4) Revenue 

The Group generates revenue from the sale of pharmaceuticals and royalty income from agreements that grant third 

parties rights to manufacture or market pharmaceutical products or rights to use technologies. 

 

(i) Sales of pharmaceutical products 

Revenue from sales of pharmaceuticals is recognised when the customer obtains control of the pharmaceutical 

product that the Group promises to transfer. The Group determines that the customer usually obtains control of a 

pharmaceutical product upon delivery. 

There are no contracts for which the payment terms of consideration are longer than one year, in principle, 

thus no significant financing component is included. If the transaction price in a contract includes variable amounts 

such as rebates or discounts, the variable consideration is estimated by using either of the expected value method 

or the most likely amount method, and is reduced from the consideration received from the customer. The variable 

consideration is recognised only when it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur. 

For transactions in which the Group is deemed to be entrusted by other companies to sell pharmaceuticals, 

i.e., transactions in which the Group is acting as an agent, the Group recognises revenue as the net amount of the 

remuneration or fees for which it expects to obtain rights. 

 

(ii) Royalty income 

Royalty income includes upfront payments, milestone payments received when contractual conditions are fulfilled, 

and running royalties based on net sales and other factors. 

For upfront payments, revenue is recognised at a point in time when each performance obligation is satisfied 

or over time as the performance obligation is satisfied. For performance obligations satisfied at a point in time, 

revenue is recognised when control of the right which the Group promised to transfer in accordance with the contract 

is obtained by the customer. For performance obligations satisfied over time, revenue is recognised based on the 

ratio between the output such as elapsed period and the remaining period to provide the promised services in the 

contract. 

Receipt of milestone payments is subject to uncertainty and such uncertainty is not eliminated until conditions 

have been fulfilled. As such, revenue is recognised for milestone payments at a point in time when the conditions 

for the milestone payments have been fulfilled, in principle.  

Running royalties based on net sales and other factors are recognised at a point in time when the later of the 

following events occurs: subsequent sales, etc. occur, or performance obligations to which royalties based on net 

sales and other factors are allocated are satisfied. 
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Revenue is recognised for upfront payments and milestone payments at the amounts stipulated by the 

contracts, in principle. Revenue from running royalties is calculated as the amount of net sales, etc. for the 

calculation period reported by the customer, multiplied by the contractual fee rate. In almost all the contracts, a 

payment deadline has been set within a short period after the conclusion of contracts, fulfilment of conditions or the 

final day of the calculation period for running royalties. 

 

(5) Research and development expenses 

Expenditure on research and development of an internal project is fully recognised as “Research and development 

expenses” in the consolidated statement of income when incurred. 

Internal development expenditure incurred is recognised as an intangible asset only if the recognition criteria 

under IAS 38 are satisfied. The Group considers that the recognition criteria are not met until marketing approval is 

obtained from the regulatory authorities in major markets, and recognises internal expenditure incurred for ongoing 

internal development projects as expenses. 

In addition to the Group’s internal research and development activities, the Group has entered into research and 

development collaboration agreements with third parties. The payments and receipts associated with the settlement 

of expenditure incurred for the research and development collaboration activities are recognised as research and 

development expenses on an accrual basis in the same way as research and development expenditure incurred within 

the Group. 

 

(6) Income tax expense 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred taxes, and recognised in profit or loss, except for taxes 

related to business combinations and to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Current taxes are calculated at the amount expected to be paid to or refunded from the taxation authority by 

applying the statutory tax rate and tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the fiscal year. 

 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts of certain assets or liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position and their tax base. However, 

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for: 

 taxable temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

 taxable or deductible temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 

other than a business combination that affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss) and does not 

give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences at the time of the transaction. 

 deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 

arrangements when it is not probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future or there 

will not be sufficient taxable profits against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

 taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates, and interests in joint 

arrangements when the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is 

probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 

which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits can be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 

period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the fiscal year. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and they are related to income tax expense levied by the same taxation 

authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax assets and 

current tax liabilities on a net basis. 

The Group applies the exception provided for in IAS 12 and does not recognise or disclose deferred tax assets 

and deferred tax liabilities related to income tax expense arising from the Pillar Two Model Rules. 

 

(7) Property, plant and equipment (except for right-of-use assets) 

Property, plant, and equipment is measured by using the cost model and is carried at cost less accumulated 
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depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of items of property, plant and equipment includes costs 

directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 

manner intended by management and the initial estimate of costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring 

the site on which they are located. 

 

Subsequent costs are recognised as an asset, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 

the asset will flow to the Group and its cost can be reliably measured. Costs of day-to-day servicing for items of 

property, plant and equipment, such as repairs and maintenance, are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use. When an item of property, plant and equipment has 

significant components, each component is depreciated separately. The depreciable amount of an asset is determined 

by deducting its residual value from its cost. The depreciable amount of items of property, plant and equipment is 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component. 

 

The estimated useful lives of major classes of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Buildings and structures 2 to 60 years 

Machinery and vehicles 2 to 20 years 

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 2 to 20 years 

 

The useful lives, residual values, and depreciation methods of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at the 

end of fiscal year, and changed, if necessary. 

 

(8) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease based on the substance 

of the contract. The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease, together with periods 

covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised and period covered by an option to 

terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Group applies a single discount rate to a portfolio 

of leases with reasonably similar characteristics. For short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of 

low value, the Group may recognise the lease payments as an expense over the lease term instead of recognising a 

right-of-use asset and a lease liability. 

 

(i) Right-of-use asset 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, which comprises the amount of the initial measurement of the 

corresponding lease liability at the commencement date, adjusted for initial direct costs, etc. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis after the commencement date of the lease over 

the shorter of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term (2 to 40 years). 

 

(ii) Lease liability 

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, which are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 

determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 

interest on the lease liability, reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made and remeasured to 

reflect any reassessment or lease modifications when necessary. 

 

(9) Goodwill 

Measurement of goodwill on initial recognition is described in “(2) Business combinations.” After initial recognition, 

goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Impairment of goodwill is described in “(11) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and intangible 

assets.” 

 

(10) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance, other than goodwill, comprising 

research and production technology, in-process research and development (IPR&D), and marketing rights acquired in 



- 17 - 

business combinations or acquired separately. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost upon initial recognition, and those acquired in 

business combinations are measured at fair value at acquisition dates. After initial recognition, the Group applies the 

cost model and intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 

losses. 

 

Among rights related to products or research and development acquired separately or through business combinations, 

those that are still in the research and development stage or those that marketing approval has not yet been obtained 

for from the regulatory authorities and thus have not yet been launched are recognised under intangible assets as 

“IPR&D.” 

Expenditure on an acquired IPR&D, including initial upfront payments and milestone payments made when the 

objective is achieved to the third parties, is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that the expected future 

economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Group and the asset is identifiable. 

An intangible asset recognised as IPR&D is not amortised because it is not yet available for use, but instead, it 

is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment or annually at the same time each year 

irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

Once marketing approval from the regulatory authorities is obtained and the product is launched, IPR&D is 

transferred to “Marketing rights” and amortised from that time on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. 

 

Intangible assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives (2 to 25 years) on a straight-line basis from the time 

when they are available for use. Amortisation of research and production technology, and rights related to products or 

research and development acquired separately or acquired through business combinations is presented in the 

consolidated statement of income under “Amortisation of intangible assets.” The estimated useful life of intangible 

assets is the shorter of the period of legal protection or its economic life, and it is regularly reviewed. 

Gains arising from the transfer of rights related to products or research and development are presented in the 

consolidated statement of income under “Gain on divestiture of intangible assets.” 

 

(11) Impairment of property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and intangible assets 

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that its property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets may be impaired. 

If there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Intangible assets with 

indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually at the same time each year 

irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. A cash-generating unit is the smallest 

identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 

assets or groups of assets. 

The recoverable amount is determined as the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In 

determining the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to the present value using a discount 

rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset at the measurement date. The discount 

rate used for determining the recoverable amount is set at a rate appropriate to each geographical area of operations. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount, and the reduction is recognised 

in profit or loss as an impairment loss. 

 

(ii) Impairment of goodwill 

Goodwill is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (group of cash-generating units), that is expected to benefit 

from the synergies of the business combination, and it is tested for impairment annually at the same time each year 

and whenever there is an indication of impairment. If, at the time of the impairment test, the recoverable amount of 

a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 

cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is reduced to its recoverable amount, and the reduction is 

recognised in profit or loss as an impairment loss. 
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The impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit 

(group of cash-generating units) and then is allocated to the other assets on a pro rata basis of the carrying amount 

of each asset in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units). 

 

(iii) Reversal of impairment loss 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an impairment loss 

recognised in prior years may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit is estimated. If the estimates used to determine the recoverable 

amount of the asset or the cash-generating unit has changed, a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, to the 

extent the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount (net of depreciation or amortisation) that 

would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 

Any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

 

(12) Financial instruments 

(i) Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the trade date when the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Except for trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component, financial assets and 

financial liabilities are measured at fair value at initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition of financial assets or issuance of financial liabilities other than financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit or loss (“financial assets at FVTPL”) and financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or 

loss (“financial liabilities at FVTPL”), are added to the fair value of the financial assets or deducted from the fair 

value of financial liabilities at initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial 

assets at FVTPL and financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(ii) Financial assets 

At initial recognition, all financial assets are classified as “financial assets measured at amortised cost,” “financial 

assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“financial assets at FVTOCI”)” or “financial 

assets at FVTPL.” 

 

(a) Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Financial assets are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions 

are met: 

 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect 

contractual cash flows and 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial recognition, the financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment loss. Interest revenue using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or 

loss. 

 

(b) Financial assets at FVTOCI (debt instruments) 

Financial assets are classified as financial assets at FVTOCI (debt instruments) if both of the following conditions 

are met: 

 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling financial assets and 

 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on principal amount outstanding. 

After initial recognition, the financial assets are measured at fair value, and any gain or loss resulting from 

subsequent changes in fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment gains or 

losses and foreign exchange gains or losses. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or 

loss recognised in other components of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification 

adjustment. 
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(c) Financial assets at FVTOCI (equity instruments) 

The Group has made an irrevocable election for equity instruments, with some exceptions, to present 

subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, and classifies such instruments as financial 

assets at FVTOCI. 

After initial recognition, the financial assets are measured at fair value, and any gain or loss resulting from 

subsequent changes in fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income. When the financial asset is 

derecognised or the fair value has significantly decreased, the cumulative gain or loss recognised in other 

component of equity is transferred to retained earnings. Dividends on such financial assets are recognised in 

profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. 

 

(d) Financial assets at FVTPL 

Financial assets not classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost or financial assets at FVTOCI are 

classified as financial assets at FVTPL. 

After initial recognition, the financial assets are measured at fair value with subsequent changes in fair 

value recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Impairment of financial assets 

Loss allowances are recognised for expected credit losses for financial assets measured at amortised cost or debt 

instruments classified as financial assets at FVTOCI. 

At the end of each reporting period, the loss allowance is measured for a financial asset at an amount equal 

to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition. The loss allowance is measured for a financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 

losses if the credit risk on that financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition. 

However, for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, the loss allowance is always measured 

at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. 

If all or part of a financial asset is determined to be unrecoverable based on reasonable grounds, the financial 

asset is considered to be default. 

Expected credit losses are measured to reflect the following factors: 

 An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes 

 the time value of money 

 reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort about past events, current 

conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

 

When evaluating whether credit risk has increased significantly, the Group considers reasonable and 

supportable information that is available, as well as past-due information. Moreover, if there is objective evidence of 

credit impairment such as legal liquidation procedures due to the bankruptcy of a borrower, the Group considers the 

financial asset to be a credit-impaired financial asset. The carrying amount of such financial asset is directly reduced 

by the amount that clearly cannot be recovered in the future and the corresponding loss allowance is also reduced. 

 

(iv) Financial liabilities 

At initial recognition, all financial liabilities are classified as “financial liabilities at FVTPL” or “financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost.” 

 

(a) Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

Derivative financial liabilities, financial liabilities designated as financial liabilities at FVTPL and contingent 

consideration recognised in a business combination that meets the definition of financial liabilities, are classified 

as financial liabilities at FVTPL. 

After initial recognition, the financial liabilities are measured at fair value with subsequent changes in fair 

value recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(b) Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities not classified as financial liabilities at FVTPL are classified as financial liabilities measured at 
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amortised cost. 

After initial recognition, the financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. 

 

(v) Derecognition 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or 

the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset have been transferred and substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or the contractual rights to receive the cash 

flows of the financial asset have been transferred but substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

financial asset are neither transferred nor retained and control of the financial asset has not been retained. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when a financial liability is extinguished, i.e., when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired. 

 

(vi) Derivatives and hedge accounting 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are recognised in profit or loss. 

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments are accounted for differently depending on the type of hedging 

relationships. 

 

At the inception of hedging relationships, the Group formally designates and documents the hedging relationships 

and its risk management objective and strategy for executing the hedges. The documentation includes identification 

of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group assesses 

whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements. The group also assesses whether 

the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness requirements at the inception of the hedge and on an 

ongoing basis. 

 

Qualifying hedging relationships are accounted for as follows. 

 

(a) Fair value hedges 

The gain or loss on the derivatives is recognised in profit or loss. The hedging gain or loss on the hedged items 

adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged items and is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(b) Cash flow hedges 

The portion of the gain or loss on the derivatives that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in 

other comprehensive income, and the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Gain or loss accumulated 

in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the 

cash flows of the hedged items affect profit or loss. 

 

(c) Hedges of net investments in foreign operations 

The portion of the gain or loss on the derivatives that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised in 

other comprehensive income, and the ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Gain or loss accumulated 

in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of foreign operations. 

 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging relationships cease to meet the qualifying criteria, including 

instances when the hedging instruments expire or are sold, terminated or exercised. 

 

 

(13) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with maturities of 

three months or less from the date of acquisition which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value. 

 

(14) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and if net realisable value is less than the cost, 
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write-down is recognised. The cost of inventories includes costs of purchase, costs of conversion and all other costs 

incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary to sell. 

Write-downs are recognised for inventory associated with products for which marketing approval has not yet been 

obtained from the regulatory authorities. These write-downs are reversed when the marketing approval becomes 

highly probable to be obtained. Cost of inventories is assigned mainly by using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. 

 

(15) Share-based payments 

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based payment plan and a cash-settled share-based payment plan as 

share-based payment plans. 

 

(i) Equity-settled share-based payment plan 

Under the equity-settled share-based payment plan, services received are measured at the fair value of the equity 

instruments at the grant date, and are recognised as expenses from the grant date over the vesting period, with a 

corresponding increase recognised in equity. 

 

(ii) Cash-settled share-based payment plan 

Under the cash-settled share-based payment plan, services received are measured at the fair value of the liabilities 

incurred and recognised as expenses over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase recognised in liabilities. 

Until the liabilities are settled, the fair value of liabilities is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and at the 

settlement date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(16) Employee benefits 

(i) Retirement benefits 

The Group operates defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans for its employees. 

 

(a) Defined benefit plans 

Net defined benefit liabilities (assets) are determined as the present value of the defined benefit obligation less 

the fair value of plan assets adjusted for the effect of limiting the net defined benefit assets to the asset ceiling. 

The defined benefit obligation and the related service cost is determined by using the projected unit credit method. 

The discount rate is determined by reference to market yield, at the end of reporting period, on high-quality 

corporate bonds having maturity terms consistent with the estimated term of the related pension obligations. 

Service cost and net interest on the net defined benefit liabilities (assets) are recognised in profit or loss. 

Actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest, and any 

change in the effect of the asset ceiling are recognised in other comprehensive income under “Remeasurements 

of defined benefit plans,” and transferred from other components of equity to retained earnings immediately. 

 

(b) Defined contribution plans 

Contributions paid for defined contribution plans are recognised as expenses in the period in which the 

employees render the related service. 

 

(ii) Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are recognised as expenses when the related service is rendered by an employee. 

Bonus accrual is recognised as a liability when the Group has present legal or constructive obligations resulting 

from past service rendered by the employees and reliable estimates of the obligations can be made. 

 

(17) Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has present legal or constructive obligations as a result of past events, it 

is probable that outflows of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations, and 

reliable estimates of the obligations can be made. 

When the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are measured at the present value of the 

expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligations. 
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4. Significant Accounting Estimates, Judgements and Assumptions 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management of the Group to make estimates, 

judgements and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income, and expenses. 

Given their nature, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis, and the effects resulting from 

revisions of accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in future periods 

affected by the revision. 

 

Accounting estimates that may have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the next fiscal year 

are as follows: 

 Revenue recognition and recording of estimated refund liabilities (Notes 6 and 27) 

 Impairment of goodwill and in-process research and development (IPR&D) (Notes 16 and 17) 

 Recoverability of deferred tax assets (Note 18) 

 Fair value measurement of contingent consideration (Note 29 (4)) 

 

 

5. Segment Information 

The main activities of the Group are research and development, manufacture, and sales of pharmaceutical products, 

and there are no separate operating segments. Therefore, the Group has a single reporting segment, “Pharmaceutical.” 

 

Information about products and services 

Revenue by type of product and service is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

XTANDI 750,466 912,288 

PROGRAF 203,085 200,998 

BETANIS/MYRBETRIQ/BETMIGA 198,066 170,039 

Other 452,055 628,999 

Total 1,603,672 1,912,323 
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Information about geographical areas 

Revenue and non-current assets by geographical areas are as follows: 

 

Revenue by geographical areas 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Japan 286,218 280,106 

United States 668,551 871,903 

Other 648,903 760,314 

Total 1,603,672 1,912,323 

(Note) Revenue by geographical areas is categorised based on the geographical location of each Group company. 

 

Non-current assets (property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets) by geographical areas 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Japan 308,014 273,746 

United States 1,734,228 1,447,056 

Other 124,018 147,040 

Total 2,166,260 1,867,842 

 

Information about major customers 

The following external customers account for 10% or more of the consolidated revenue of the Group: 

(Millions of yen)  

 Segment 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

McKesson Group Pharmaceutical 243,433 291,485 

Cencora Group Pharmaceutical 175,018 271,974 
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6. Revenue 
(1) Breakdown of revenue 

The breakdown of revenue is as follows: 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 

(Millions of yen)  

 Japan 
United 
States 

Established 
Markets 

China 
International 
Markets 

Others Total 

Revenue recognised from 

contracts with customers 
       

Sales of pharmaceutical 

products 
269,304 602,426 415,567 70,605 175,703 79 1,533,685 

Other 822 － － － 1,267 7,215 9,305 

Subtotal 270,126 602,426 415,567 70,605 176,970 7,295 1,542,990 

Revenue recognised from other 

sources 
       

Profit-sharing income － 60,682 － － － － 60,682 

Subtotal － 60,682 － － － － 60,682 

Total 270,126 663,108 415,567 70,605 176,970 7,295 1,603,672 

 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 

(Millions of yen)  

 Japan 
United 
States 

Established 
Markets 

China 
International 
Markets 

Others Total 

Revenue recognised from 

contracts with customers 
       

Sales of pharmaceutical 

products 
266,675 757,284 485,038 78,311 202,076 3,702 1,793,086 

Other 323 － － － 1,436 7,992 9,751 

Subtotal 266,998 757,284 485,038 78,311 203,512 11,694 1,802,837 

Revenue recognised from other 

sources 
       

Profit-sharing income － 109,094 379 － － 14 109,487 

Subtotal － 109,094 379 － － 14 109,487 

Total 266,998 866,378 485,417 78,311 203,512 11,708 1,912,323 

(Notes) 1. Revenue is categorised based on the organizational grouping of business management in the commercial 

division. 

2. “Other” under revenue recognised from contracts with customers mainly includes royalty income. 

3. Profit-sharing income represents mainly revenue from non-customer partners who share the risks and rewards 

of joint sales promotion activities. 

4. From the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025, the name of the commercial segment “Greater China” was changed 

to “China”. In addition, the commercial segment of Taiwan was changed from China to International Markets. 

Figures of the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 reflect this change. 

 

Established Markets: Europe, Canada, etc. 

China: China, Hong Kong 

International Markets: Latin America, Middle East, Africa, South East Asia, South Asia, Russia, Korea, Taiwan, 

Australia, Export sales, etc. 
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(2) Contract balances 

The breakdown of contract balances is as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 
As of  

1 April 2023 
As of  

31 March 2024 
As of  

31 March 2025 

Receivables from contracts with customers    

Trade receivables 408,792 493,583 588,733 

Loss allowance (1,991) (3,192) (5,476) 

Total 406,801 490,391 583,257 

(Notes) 1. The balance of contract liabilities as of 31 March 2024 and 2025 were not material. 

2. For the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, the amounts of revenue recognised from performance 

obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods were not material. 

(3) Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations 

As a practical expedient, notes on the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations are omitted 

since there were no material contracts with an original expected duration exceeding one year. 

 

 

7. Other Income 

The breakdown of other income is as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Changes in fair value of contingent 

consideration 
2,636 16,672 

Other 6,055 3,672 

Total other income 8,691 20,344 

(Note) “Changes in fair value of contingent consideration” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 were mainly due to the 

changes in fair value of contingent consideration resulting from termination of programs related to Xyphos 

Biosciences, Inc. 
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8. Other Expenses 
The breakdown of other expenses is as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Impairment losses for property, plant and 

equipment 
15,105 － 

Impairment losses for intangible assets 63,826 187,618 

Changes in fair value of contingent 

consideration 
24,667 － 

Restructuring costs 25,407 15,523 

Litigation costs 514 1,573 

Net foreign exchange losses 807 18,578 

Replacement awards with business 

combination 
33,434 － 

Other 4,054 12,475 

Total other expenses 167,814 235,768 

(Notes) 1. “Impairment losses for property, plant and equipment” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 were mainly 

due to the agreement to sell and transfer the manufacturing plant and business based in Meppel, the 

Netherlands. 

 2. “Impairment losses for intangible assets” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 were mainly due to the 

reevaluation of asset value of AT808 gene therapy program and the revision of future business plans for 

EVRENZO. 

 3. “Changes in fair value of contingent consideration” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 were mainly due 

to the progress in development of zolbetuximab. 

 4. “Restructuring costs” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 were mainly related to organizational 

restructuring on a global scale. 

 5. The amount of “Net foreign exchange losses” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 included foreign 

exchange losses resulting from foreign exchange forward contracts (¥8,584 million). 

 6. “Replacement awards with business combination” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 were expense 

recognised for the payment of share-based payments such as unvested share options related to the acquisition 

of IVERIC bio, Inc. 

 7. “Impairment losses for intangible assets” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 were mainly due to the 

revision of future business plans due to the withdrawal of the marketing authorization application for IZERVAY 

(avacincaptad pegol intravitreal solution) for the treatment of geographic atrophy secondary to age-related 

macular degeneration in Europe, and the update to the research and development plan for the gene therapy 

program AT466 for patients with myotonic dystrophy. 

 8. The amount of “Net foreign exchange losses” for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 included foreign 

exchange losses resulting from foreign exchange forward contracts (¥9,063 million). 
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9. Employee Benefit Expenses 

The breakdown of employee benefit expenses is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Remunerations and salaries 224,154 232,668 

Bonuses 72,494 96,399 

Social security and welfare expenses 41,303 47,000 

Retirement benefit expenses—Defined 

contribution plan 
21,008 18,632 

Retirement benefit expenses—Defined 

benefit plan 
6,334 5,156 

Restructuring and termination benefits 26,475 17,643 

Other employee benefit expenses 4,100 2,624 

Total employee benefit expenses 395,868 420,122 

(Note) Employee benefit expenses are included in “Cost of sales,” “Selling, general and administrative expenses,” 

“Research and development expenses” and “Other expenses.” 

 

10. Finance Income 

The breakdown of finance income is as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Interest income 8,772 6,839 

Dividend income 79 46 

Gain on valuation of investments in funds 2,384 812 

Other 220 177 

Total finance income 11,455 7,874 

(Notes) 1. Interest income was mainly earned on cash and cash equivalents. 

 2. Dividend income was earned on financial assets at FVTOCI (equity instruments). 

 3. Gain on valuation of investments in funds arose from valuation of financial assets at FVTPL. 
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11. Finance Expenses 
The breakdown of finance expenses is as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Interest expense 7,423 13,952 

Loss on valuation of investments in funds 2,637 3,328 

Other 1,945 397 

Total finance expenses 12,005 17,677 

(Notes) 1. Interest expense was mainly related to financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

 2. Loss on valuation of investments in funds arose from valuation of financial assets at FVTPL. 

 

 

12. Income Tax Expense 
The breakdown of income tax expense recognised in profit or loss is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Current tax expense 77,072 82,974 

Deferred tax expense (69,148) (102,484) 

Income tax expense recognised on the 

consolidated statement of income 
7,924 (19,510) 

(Notes) 1. Current tax expense and deferred tax expense include the amount of the benefit arising from previously 

unrecognised tax losses, tax credits, or temporary differences of prior periods. The main item among these is 

tax benefits related to investments in subsidiaries in conjunction with decision to liquidate. Because of this 

benefit, current tax expense and deferred tax expense for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 decreased 

¥16,613 million and ¥3,981 million, respectively. 

 2. For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025, the amount of tax expense related to Pillar Two income taxes 

included in current tax expense was not material. 

 

Income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 

Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2024 

Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

Before tax 
Tax benefit 
(expense) 

Net of tax Before tax 
Tax benefit 
(expense) 

Net of tax 

Financial assets at 

FVTOCI 
(7,828) 1,959 (5,868) 4,330 (1,079) 3,251 

Remeasurements of 

defined benefit plans 
8,252 (2,287) 5,965 6,577 (1,970) 4,607 

Exchange differences on 

translation of foreign 

operations 

194,026 － 194,026 (9,716) － (9,716) 

Cash flow hedges (7,682) － (7,682) － － － 

Hedging cost 2,098 － 2,098 － － － 

Total other 

comprehensive 

income 

188,866 (328) 188,538 1,191 (3,049) (1,858) 
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

The Company is subject mainly to corporate tax, inhabitant tax, and enterprise tax on its income and the effective 

statutory tax rate calculated based on those taxes for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 was both 30.5%. 

Foreign subsidiaries are subject to income taxes on their income in their respective countries of domicile. 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

  %  % 

Effective statutory tax rate 30.5 30.5 

Tax credit for research and development 

expenses 
(59.3) (55.0) 

Non-deductible expenses 97.1 25.8 

Non-taxable income (0.0) (16.3) 

Difference in tax rates applied to foreign 

subsidiaries 
(39.7) 25.2 

Effect of decision to liquidate 

subsidiaries 
－ (65.9) 

Other 3.1 (6.8) 

Actual tax rate 31.7 (62.5) 
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13. Earnings per Share 
The basis of calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share is as follows: 

 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Basis of calculating basic earnings per share   

Profit attributable to owners of the parent (Millions of 

yen) 
17,045 50,747 

Profit not attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

parent (Millions of yen) 
－ － 

Profit used to calculate basic earnings per share 

(Millions of yen) 
17,045 50,747 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

(Thousands of shares) 
1,793,276 1,790,205 

   

Basis of calculating diluted earnings per share   

Profit used to calculate basic earnings per share 

(Millions of yen) 
17,045 50,747 

Adjustment (Millions of yen) － － 

Profit used to calculate diluted earnings per share 

(Millions of yen) 
17,045 50,747 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

(Thousands of shares) 
1,793,276 1,790,205 

Effects of dilutive potential ordinary shares 

(Thousands of shares) 
6,384 6,953 

Weighted average number of diluted ordinary 

shares (Thousands of shares) 
1,799,660 1,797,159 

   

Earnings per share (attributable to owners of the parent)   

Basic (Yen) 9.51 28.35 

Diluted (Yen) 9.47 28.24 
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14. Other Comprehensive Income 

Reclassification adjustments of other comprehensive income are as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to 

profit or loss 
  

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations 
  

Amount arising during the year 194,026 (9,716) 

Reclassification adjustment － － 

Cash flow hedges   

Amount arising during the year (7,682) － 

Reclassification adjustment － － 

Hedging cost   

Amount arising during the year 1,671 － 

Reclassification adjustment 427 － 

Subtotal 188,442 (9,716) 

Tax effect － － 

Total other comprehensive income that may be 

reclassified to profit or loss 
188,442 (9,716) 
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment 
Movement of cost, accumulated depreciation and impairment losses for property, plant and equipment 

The movement of property, plant and equipment for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Buildings 

and 

structures 

Machinery 
and 

vehicles 

Equipment, 
furniture and 

fixtures 
Land 

Construction 

in progress 

Right-of-use 

assets 
Total 

Cost        

Balance at 1 April 2023 248,065 153,859 100,443 18,013 35,111 105,348 660,838 

Acquisitions 4,516 1,064 4,781 471 24,614 19,960 55,407 

Disposals (2,205) (4,962) (3,009) － (648) (20,641) (31,466) 

Reclassification from construction in 

progress 
23,734 4,249 13,636 － (41,619) － － 

Reclassification to assets held for 

sale 
(10,921) (15,271) (2,929) (251) (1,848) － (31,220) 

Other 12,115 5,619 5,460 633 89 12,005 35,921 

Balance at 31 March 2024 275,304 144,558 118,381 18,865 15,699 116,671 689,479 

Accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses 
             

Balance at 1 April 2023 (125,406) (126,277) (79,150) － － (43,546) (374,379) 

Depreciation (10,974) (6,379) (9,337) － － (15,712) (42,403) 

Impairment losses (5,204) (189) (576) － － (791) (6,759) 

Disposals 1,967 4,922 2,862 － － 12,063 21,814 

Reclassification to assets held for 

sale 
7,211 12,569 2,645 － － － 22,425 

Other (4,665) (4,647) (3,615) － － (3,507) (16,435) 

Balance at 31 March 2024 (137,072) (120,000) (87,172) － － (51,493) (395,737) 

Carrying amounts              

Balance at 1 April 2023 122,660 27,582 21,293 18,013 35,111 61,801 286,459 

Balance at 31 March 2024 138,232 24,558 31,209 18,865 15,699 65,179 293,742 
 

(Notes) 1. “Other” mainly included exchange differences. 

 2. “Acquisitions” and “Disposals” included increase and decrease, respectively, in right-of-use assets due to lease 

modifications. 

 

 

 

 

  



- 33 - 

The movement of property, plant and equipment for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Buildings 

and 
structures 

Machinery 

and 
vehicles 

Equipment, 

furniture and 
fixtures 

Land 
Construction 

in progress 

Right-of-use 

assets 
Total 

Cost        

Balance at 1 April 2024 275,304 144,558 118,381 18,865 15,699 116,671 689,479 

Acquisitions 3,445 1,115 4,446 － 38,794 43,004 90,804 

Disposals (5,552) (7,804) (10,169) － (202) (20,470) (44,197) 

Reclassification from construction in 

progress 
9,439 710 8,178 － (18,327) － － 

Reclassification to assets held for 

sale 
－ (1) (2) (415) － － (418) 

Other (1,635) (233) (469) (40) 1,226 3,806 2,654 

Balance at 31 March 2025 281,002 138,345 120,365 18,410 37,189 143,011 738,322 

Accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses 
             

Balance at 1 April 2024 (137,072) (120,000) (87,172) － － (51,493) (395,737) 

Depreciation (11,617) (5,479) (10,929) － － (16,869) (44,893) 

Disposals 5,045 7,663 9,736 － － 9,572 32,016 

Reclassification to assets held for 

sale 
－ － 0 － － － 0 

Other 431 213 298 － － (1,728) (787) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 (143,213) (117,603) (88,067) － － (60,519) (409,401) 

Carrying amounts              

Balance at 1 April 2024 138,232 24,558 31,209 18,865 15,699 65,179 293,742 

Balance at 31 March 2025 137,789 20,742 32,298 18,410 37,189 82,492 328,921 

(Notes) 1. “Other” mainly included exchange differences. 

 2. “Acquisitions” and “Disposals” included increase and decrease, respectively, in right-of-use assets due to lease 

modifications. 

 

Impairment losses for property, plant and equipment are included in the consolidated statement of income under “Other 

expenses.” 

Impairment losses recognised for property, plant and equipment for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 amounted 

to ¥6,759 million. 

 



- 34 - 

16. Goodwill 
The movement of cost and accumulated impairment losses 

The movement of cost and accumulated impairment losses for goodwill is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 Cost 
Accumulated 

impairment losses 
Carrying amount 

Balance at 1 April 2023 328,411 － 328,411 

Business combinations 43,610 － 43,610 

Exchange differences 46,672 － 46,672 

Balance at 31 March 2024 418,694 － 418,694 

Exchange differences (3,487) － (3,487) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 415,207 － 415,207 

(Note) Increase due to “Business combinations” during the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 resulted from the acquisition 

of IVERIC bio, Inc. For details of the business combination, please refer to Note “34. Business Combinations.” 

 

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is as follows: 
  (Millions of yen) 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Whole pharmaceutical business 418,694 415,207 

(Note) Primarily, goodwill recognised as a result of the acquisition of OSI Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Audentes 

Therapeutics, Inc. was allocated to the whole pharmaceutical business as of 31 March 2024 and as of 31 March 

2025. 

 

In the impairment test of goodwill, the recoverable amount is measured by value in use based on a three-year future 

forecast. Assumptions such as the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities, projected sales 

after product launch, discount rate, and growth rate are used for the calculation. The discount rate is calculated based on 

the weighted average cost of capital (WACC), and the discount rates used for the calculation of the value in use are as 

follows: 
    

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Discount rates (after-tax) 
Whole pharmaceutical 
business 

7.0% 7.0% 

Discount rates (pre-tax) 
Whole pharmaceutical 
business 

8.8% 9.0% 

 

The terminal value after the three-year future forecast is calculated using the growth rate. The growth rate reflects the 

status of the country and the industry to which the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) belongs. The 

growth rates used for the calculation of the value in use are as follows: 
    

 
As of  

31 March 2024 
As of  

31 March 2025 

Growth rates 
Whole pharmaceutical 
business 

4.0% 5.0% 

 

The value in use sufficiently exceeds the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units). 

Therefore, even if the key assumptions used in the calculation of the value in use fluctuate within a reasonable range, the 

Group assumes that the possibility that the value in use will be lower than the carrying amount is remote. 
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17. Intangible Assets 
Movement of cost, accumulated amortisation and impairment losses for intangible assets 

The movement of intangible assets for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Research and 

production 

technology 

Rights related to products or 

research and development Other intangible 

assets 
Total 

IPR&D Marketing rights 

Cost      

Balance at 1 April 2023 195,221 468,935 237,857 128,714 1,030,727 

Acquisitions 20,192 31,209 5,128 13,333 69,861 

Business combinations － 884,331 － － 884,331 

Disposals (5,314) (314) (227) (21,999) (27,854) 

Reclassification － (849,263) 849,263 － － 

Reclassification to assets held for sale － － － (2,369) (2,369) 

Other 23,250 81,883 39,059 7,633 151,825 

Balance at 31 March 2024 233,348 616,780 1,131,080 125,312 2,106,520 

Accumulated amortisation and accumulated 

impairment losses 
     

Balance at 1 April 2023 (46,295) (177,841) (173,585) (70,509) (468,230) 

Amortisation (21,104) － (77,715) (16,617) (115,436) 

Impairment losses (5,752) (39,852) (16,384) (1,837) (63,826) 

Disposals 5,282 314 227 21,921 27,744 

Reclassification to assets held for sale － － － 2,274 2,274 

Other (5,836) (20,419) (3,611) (5,355) (35,221) 

Balance at 31 March 2024 (73,706) (237,798) (271,069) (70,123) (652,696) 

Carrying amounts      

Balance at 1 April 2023 148,925 291,094 64,272 58,205 562,496 

Balance at 31 March 2024 159,642 378,982 860,011 55,189 1,453,824 

(Notes) 1. Increase due to “Business combinations” resulted from the acquisition of IVERIC bio, Inc. For details of the 

business combination, please refer to Note “34. Business combinations.” 

 2. “Other” mainly included exchange differences. 
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The movement of intangible assets for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Research and 

production 

technology 

Rights related to products or 

research and development Other intangible 

assets 
Total 

IPR&D Marketing rights 

Cost      

Balance at 1 April 2024 233,348 616,780 1,131,080 125,312 2,106,520 

Acquisitions 9,756 3,441 50 8,528 21,775 

Disposals (27,232) (81,448) (16,183) (10,177) (135,041) 

Reclassification － (91,614) 91,614 － － 

Other (1,519) (3,298) (8,028) (3,502) (16,346) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 214,354 443,861 1,198,532 120,160 1,976,908 

Accumulated amortisation and accumulated 

impairment losses 
     

Balance at 1 April 2024 (73,706) (237,798) (271,069) (70,123) (652,696) 

Amortisation (24,600) － (112,161) (17,477) (154,238) 

Impairment losses (13,339) (171,778) － (2,501) (187,618) 

Disposals 27,232 81,448 15,902 10,054 134,637 

Reclassification － 27,597 (27,597) － － 

Other 671 3,354 2,275 421 6,721 

Balance at 31 March 2025 (83,743) (297,177) (392,649) (79,625) (853,194) 

Carrying amounts      

Balance at 1 April 2024 159,642 378,982 860,011 55,189 1,453,824 

Balance at 31 March 2025 130,611 146,685 805,883 40,535 1,123,714 

(Note) “Other” mainly included exchange differences. 

 

Amortisation of intangible assets related to the research and production technology, and the rights related to products 

or research and development are presented in the consolidated statement of income under “Amortisation of intangible 

assets.” 

Impairment losses for intangible assets is included in the consolidated statement of income under “Other 

expenses.” 
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Impairment test and impairment losses for intangible assets 

For intangible assets, the Group assesses the necessity of impairment mainly by individual asset. Also, intangible 

assets not yet being amortised are tested for impairment annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment. 

In the impairment test, the recoverable amount of an asset is measured by value in use mainly based on a future 

forecast. Assumptions such as the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities, projected 

sales after product launch and discount rates are used for the calculation. The discount rate is calculated based on 

the WACC, and the range of discount rates used for the calculation of the value in use are as follows. 

 
As of  

31 March 2024 
As of  

31 March 2025 
 

Discount rates (after-tax) 6.3% to 10.0% 6.0% to 9.5%  

Discount rates (pre-tax) 8.6% to 13.8% 7.4% to 13.6%  

The major assumptions used for the calculation of the value in use entail uncertainties. Thus, changes in the major 

assumptions may affect the amount of intangible assets within the next fiscal year. 

 

As a result of the impairment test, the Group recognised the following impairment losses for the fiscal years ended 31 

March 2024 and 2025. 

 

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024, impairment losses recognised for intangible assets were ¥63,826 million, 

and mainly composed of an impairment loss of ¥39,852 million resulting from the reevaluation of asset value of AT808 

gene therapy program and an impairment loss of ¥16,384 million resulting from the revision of future business plans 

for EVRENZO. The recoverable amount of AT808 is calculated using the value in use measured by discounting 

estimated future cash flows. The after-tax discount rate and the pre-tax discount rate used for the calculation of the 

value in use are 9.0% and 11.3%, respectively. The recoverable amount of EVRENZO is calculated using the value in 

use measured by discounting estimated future cash flows. The after-tax discount rate and the pre-tax discount rate 

used for the calculation of the value in use are 6.3% to 10.0% and 9.1% to 13.8%, respectively. 

 

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025, impairment losses recognised for intangible assets were ¥187,618 million 

and mainly composed of an impairment loss of ¥115,092 million resulting from the withdrawal of the marketing 

authorization application for IZERVAY (avacincaptad pegol intravitreal solution) for the treatment of geographic atrophy 

secondary to age-related macular degeneration in Europe and an impairment loss of ¥51,799 million resulting from 

the update to the research and development plan for the gene therapy program AT466 for patients with myotonic 

dystrophy. The recoverable amount of IZERVAY is calculated using the value in use measured by discounting 

estimated future cash flows. The after-tax discount rate and the pre-tax discount rate used for the calculation of the 

value in use are 9.5% and 12.1%, respectively. The recoverable amount of AT466 is calculated using the value in use 

measured by discounting estimated future cash flows. The after-tax discount rate and the pre-tax discount rate used 

for the calculation of the value in use are 9.5% and 12.0%, respectively. 

 

Gain on divestiture of intangible assets 

Gains arising from the transfer of rights related to products or research and development are presented in the 

consolidated statement of income under “Gain on divestiture of intangible assets.” 

Gain on divestiture of intangible assets recognised for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 amounted 

to ¥9,735 million and ¥1,049 million, respectively. 

The main breakdown for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 is the gain on divestiture of intangible assets of 

¥9,334 million resulting from the transfer of worldwide manufacturing and marketing authorisation including Japan, for 

antifungal agent FUNGUARD (generic name: micafungin sodium/product name overseas: MYCAMINE) to Sandoz AG. 
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Significant intangible assets 

Significant intangible assets recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: 
 (Millions of yen) 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

avacincaptad pegol (IZERVAY) 
IPR&D 166,441 51,733 

Marketing rights 730,585 632,563 

fezolinetant (VEOZAH) Marketing rights 94,117 86,246 

Technology platform and manufacturing 
technology for Adeno-associated virus-
based gene therapy 

Research and production 
technology 

71,357 64,163 

zolbetuximab (VYLOY) 
IPR&D 64,017 － 

Marketing rights － 59,720 

AT466 IPR&D 53,987 3,149 

For intangible assets already starting amortisation, the remaining amortisation period was 7 to 13 years in the fiscal 

year ended 31 March 2024 and 6 to 12 years in the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025. The intangible assets not yet 

being amortised are tested for impairment annually. 

18. Deferred Taxes 

The breakdown of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Financial assets at FVTOCI (1,406) (695) 

Retirement benefit assets and liabilities 1,848 (1,911) 

Property, plant and equipment (5,978) (6,778) 

Intangible assets (184,595) (110,358) 

Accrued expenses 40,045 50,963 

Inventories 53,219 61,397 

Tax loss carry-forwards 49,892 49,632 

Other 41,225 50,511 

Net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (5,751) 92,760 
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Changes in net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 

Fiscal year ended 
31 March 2025 

Balance at the beginning of the year 78,121 (5,751) 

Recognised in profit or loss 69,148 102,484 

Recognised in other comprehensive income (306) (759) 

Business combinations   

Intangible assets (188,897) － 

Tax loss carry-forwards 29,496 － 

Other 6,103 － 

Other 583 (3,214) 

Balance at the end of the year (5,751) 92,760 

(Note) The increase in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities due to “Business combinations” during the fiscal 

year ended 31 March 2024 resulted from the acquisition of IVERIC bio, Inc. For details of the business combination, 

please refer to Note “34. Business Combinations.” 

 

Deductible temporary differences, tax loss carry-forwards, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is 

recognised are as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Deductible temporary differences 41,811 27,793 

Tax loss carry-forwards 22,334 21,333 

Unused tax credits 3,589 2,685 

Total 67,734 51,811 

 

The expiration period and amount of tax loss carry-forwards for which no deferred tax asset is recognised are as 

follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Within one year 268 3 

One year to two years 3 － 

Two years to five years 37 22 

Over five years 22,026 21,308 

Total 22,334 21,333 

 

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Group takes into account the expected reversal of deferred 

tax liabilities, projected future taxable profits and tax planning, and estimates the taxable profits based on business 

plans. 

The timing of taxable profits arising and the amount thereof may be affected by trends in pharmaceutical markets 

in various countries, the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities, projected sales after 
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product launch, and other factors. As these estimates entail uncertainties, the actual amount of taxable profits may 

differ from the estimated amount. 

Of the balance of deferred tax assets as of 31 March 2025, the amount attributable to U.S. subsidiaries that 

recognised losses in fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 or 2025 was ¥38,411 million. 

 
 
19. Inventories 

The breakdown of inventories is as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Raw materials 107,282 133,870 

Work in progress 68,795 78,819 

Merchandise and finished goods 72,660 84,571 

Total 248,738 297,261 

 

Inventories recognised as an expense in “Cost of sales” for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 amounted to 

¥174,633 million and ¥201,983 million, respectively. 

 

The breakdown of write-down of inventories that is recognised as an expense is as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Cost of sales 9,073 6,794 

 

 

20. Trade and Other Receivables 

The breakdown of trade and other receivables is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Trade and notes receivables 517,874 619,513 

Other accounts receivables 40,347 36,941 

Loss allowances (3,192) (5,476) 

Total trade and other receivables 555,028 650,978 
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21. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Cash and deposits 317,966 181,979 

Short-term investments (Cash equivalents) 17,720 6,392 

Cash and cash equivalents in the 

consolidated statement of financial 

position 

335,687 188,372 

Cash and cash equivalents in the 

consolidated statement of cash flows 
335,687 188,372 

 

 

22. Equity and Other Components of Equity 

(1) Share capital and capital surplus 

The movement of the number of issued shares fully paid and share capital is as follows: 

 

Number of 
authorised shares 

(Thousands of 
shares) 

Number of ordinary 
shares issued 
(Thousands of 

shares) 

Share capital 
(Millions of yen) 

Capital surplus 
(Millions of yen) 

As of 1 April 2023 9,000,000 1,809,663 103,001 181,280 

Increase － － － 4,242 

Decrease － － － (1,452) 

As of 31 March 2024 9,000,000 1,809,663 103,001 184,070 

Increase － － － 4,325 

Decrease － － － (3,136) 

As of 31 March 2025 9,000,000 1,809,663 103,001 185,259 

 

(2) Treasury shares 

The movement of treasury shares is as follows: 

 
Number of shares 

(Thousands of shares) 
Amount 

(Millions of yen) 

As of 1 April 2023 12,900 25,123 

Increase 4,639 10,735 

Decrease (978) (2,075) 

As of 31 March 2024 16,561 33,783 

Increase 4,453 6,960 

Decrease (1,661) (3,219) 

As of 31 March 2025 19,353 37,524 
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23. Dividends 
For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 

(1) Dividends paid 

Resolution Class of shares 
Amount of 
dividends 

(Millions of yen) 

Dividends 
per share 

(Yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Board of Directors meeting 

held on 27 April 2023 

Ordinary 

shares 
54,266 30.00 

31 March 

2023 

1 June 

2023 

Board of Directors meeting 

held on 1 November 2023 

Ordinary 

shares 
63,313 35.00 

30 September 

2023 

1 December 

2023 

(Notes) 1. The amount of dividends approved by resolution of the Board of Directors meeting on 27 April 2023 included 

dividends of ¥363 million corresponding to the Company’s shares held in the executive remuneration BIP trust 

and the stock-delivery ESOP trust. 

 2. The amount of dividends approved by resolution of the Board of Directors meeting on 1 November 2023 

included dividends of ¥562 million corresponding to the Company’s shares held in the executive remuneration 

BIP trust and the stock-delivery ESOP trust. 

 

(2) Dividends whose record date is in the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 but whose effective date is in the 

following fiscal year are as follows: 

Resolution Class of shares 
Amount of 
dividends 

(Millions of yen) 

Dividends 
per share 

(Yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Board of Directors meeting 

held on 25 April 2024 

Ordinary 

shares 
63,318 35.00 

31 March 

2024 

3 June 

2024 

(Note) The amount of dividends above included dividends of ¥559 million corresponding to the Company’s shares held in 

the executive remuneration BIP trust and the stock-delivery ESOP trust. 

 

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 

(1) Dividends paid 

Resolution Class of shares 
Amount of 
dividends 

(Millions of yen) 

Dividends 
per share 

(Yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Board of Directors meeting 

held on 25 April 2024 

Ordinary 

shares 
63,318 35.00 

31 March 

2024 

3 June 

2024 

Board of Directors meeting 

held on 30 October 2024 

Ordinary 

shares 
66,937 37.00 

30 September 

2024 

2 December 

2024 

(Notes) 1. The amount of dividends approved by resolution of the Board of Directors meeting on 25 April 2024 included 

dividends of ¥559 million corresponding to the Company’s shares held in the executive remuneration BIP trust 

and the stock-delivery ESOP trust. 

 2. The amount of dividends approved by resolution of the Board of Directors meeting on 30 October 2024 included 

dividends of ¥703 million corresponding to the Company’s shares held in the executive remuneration BIP trust 

and the stock-delivery ESOP trust. 

 

(2) Dividends whose record date is in the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 but whose effective date is in the 

following fiscal year are as follows: 

Resolution Class of shares 
Amount of 
dividends 

(Millions of yen) 

Dividends 
per share 

(Yen) 
Record date Effective date 

Board of Directors meeting 

held on 25 April 2025 

Ordinary 

shares 
66,939 37.00 

31 March 

2025 

3 June 

2025 

(Note) The amount of dividends above included dividends of ¥698 million corresponding to the Company’s shares held in 

the executive remuneration BIP trust and the stock-delivery ESOP trust. 
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24. Share-based Payments 
(1) Performance-linked Stock Compensation Scheme and Performance-linked Stock Delivery Scheme 

(i) Outline of the Performance-linked Stock Compensation Scheme and Performance-linked Stock Delivery 

Scheme 

The Company has introduced a Performance-linked Stock Compensation Scheme for Directors (excluding outside 

Directors and Directors who are Audit & Supervisory Committee Members) and Corporate Executives (Tantou-

Yakuin) for the purpose of promoting management focused on increasing enterprise and shareholder value over the 

medium- to long-term. The scheme employs a framework referred to as the executive remuneration BIP (Board 

Incentive Plan) trust (hereinafter, the “BIP Trust”). The Company has also introduced a Performance-linked Stock 

Delivery Scheme, a framework referred to as the stock-delivery ESOP (Employee Stock Ownership Plan) trust 

(hereinafter, the “ESOP Trust”) for the domestic and global Group’s executives. At the date of commencement of 

the plan each fiscal year, basic points (with 1 point corresponding to 1 share of the Company’s share), which are 

calculated based on the basic amount set according to factors such as professional responsibilities, are granted to 

the individuals eligible under the plan. The number of shares delivered is determined within the range of 0% to 200% 

of the basic points based on the level of growth of enterprise value and shareholder value and the stock price 

evaluation indicator over three consecutive fiscal years (hereinafter, the “Applicable Period”). In principle, there are 

vesting conditions to satisfy the beneficiary requirements, such as being individuals eligible under the plan 

continuously until the date after conclusion of the Applicable Period specified by each Trust. The BIP Trust and 

ESOP Trust acquire the Company’s shares and deliver them to individuals eligible under the plan who have satisfied 

the beneficiary requirements at the time after conclusion of the Applicable Period specified by each Trust. 

The Performance-linked Stock Compensation Scheme and Performance-linked Stock Delivery Scheme under 

which the Company’s shares are delivered from the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust are accounted for mainly as equity-

settled share-based payment transactions. For individuals eligible under the plan residing in countries where the 

Company’s shares cannot be delivered due to local laws, regulations, or other reasons, cash equivalent to the value 

of shares to be delivered is paid and the transactions are accounted for as cash-settled share-based payment 

transactions. 

 

(ii) Expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of income 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Total expenses recognised for the Performance-linked 

Stock Compensation Scheme and Performance-linked 

Stock Delivery Scheme 

4,322 4,423 

 

(iii) Number of points granted during the fiscal year and weighted average fair value of points 

The number of points granted during the fiscal year is as follows: 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Number of points granted during the fiscal year 3,224,980 4,240,886 
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The weighted average fair value of the points granted during the period is calculated based on the following 

assumptions using the Monte Carlo simulation. 

 

  
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Share price at the grant date  2,149.0 yen 1,588.5 yen 

Vesting period (Note 1) 3 years 3 years 

Expected dividend yield (Note 2) 3.0% 3.6% 

Discount rate (Note 3) 0.1% 0.5% 

Weighted average fair value  1,963 yen 1,285 yen 

(Notes) 1. Refers to the number of years from the grant date until the shares are expected to be delivered. 

 2. Calculated based on the past dividends paid. 

 3. Based on the yield on Japanese government bonds corresponding to the vesting period. 

 

(iv) The Company’s shares held in the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust 

The Company’s shares held in the BIP Trust and ESOP Trust as of 31 March 2024 and 2025 were 15,973 thousand 

shares and 18,862 thousand shares, respectively. 

 

(2) Share option plans 

(i) Outline of share option plans 

The Company had adopted share option plans through the fiscal year ended 31 March 2015, and has granted share 

options to Directors and Corporate Executives of the Company. The purpose of share option plans is to improve the 

sensitivity to the share price and financial results of the Company and also increase the enterprise value by 

motivating the members to whom share options are granted. 

After obtaining approval at the Company’s Annual Shareholders Meeting, share options are granted as 

subscription rights to shares to individuals approved at the Company’s Board of Directors meeting. 

Holders of subscription rights to shares can exercise their share subscription rights only from the day following 

the date of resignation from their position as Director or Corporate Executive of the Company. Share options not 

exercised during the exercise period defined in the allocation contract will be forfeited. The exercise price per share 

of stock options is ¥1. 

The Company accounts for those share option plans as equity-settled share-based payment transactions. All 

outstanding balances for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 have been vested and are exercisable. 

 

(ii) Movement of the number of share options outstanding and their weighted average exercise price 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Outstanding, at the beginning of the 

year 
664,800 459,600 

Exercised (205,200) (99,500) 

Outstanding, at the end of the year 459,600 360,100 

(Notes) 1. The number of share options is presented as the number of underlying shares. 

 2. The weighted average share prices at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the fiscal years 

ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 were ¥1,852 and ¥1,493, respectively. 

 3. The weighted average remaining contractual lives of outstanding share options for the fiscal years ended 31 

March 2024 and 2025 were 9 years and 8 years, respectively. 
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25. Retirement Benefits 
The Group, excluding a part of foreign subsidiaries, offers post-employment benefits such as defined benefit plans 

and defined contribution plans. Among the defined benefit plans offered, the defined benefit plan adopted in Japan is 

a major one, accounting for approximately 60% of the total defined benefit obligations. 

 

(i) Defined benefit plan adopted in Japan 

The Company offers corporate pension plans and retirement lump-sum payment plans as defined benefit plans. 

The benefits of the defined benefit plan are determined based on the base compensation calculated by 

accumulated points earned by the time of retirement and promised rate of return based on the yield of 10-year 

government bonds. Also, the option of receiving benefits in the form of a pension is available for plan participants 

who have been enrolled for 15 years or more. 

Defined benefit plans are administered by the Astellas Corporate Pension Fund. Directors of the pension fund 

are jointly liable for damages to the fund due to their neglect of duties about management of the funds. 

 

Contributions of the employer are made monthly and also determined as 4.0% of standard salary, which is calculated 

based on the estimate of the points granted during a year to each participant. When the plan assets are lower than 

the minimum funding standard at the end of fiscal year, the employer will make additional contributions. In order to 

maintain the financial soundness of the fund in the future and to ensure stable fund management, risk-related 

premiums are contributed. 

Defined benefit plans are exposed to actuarial risks. The Astellas Corporate Pension Fund assigns staff with 

professional knowledge and expertise about the composition of plan asset to determine the asset mix ratio and 

manages risks by monitoring on a quarterly basis. 

 

(ii) Defined benefit plans of overseas subsidiaries 

Among foreign subsidiaries, ones located in the United Kingdom, Germany, Ireland, and some other countries offer 

defined benefit plans. 

 

Assets and liabilities of defined benefit plans recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as 

follows: 

 

As of 31 March 2024 

(Millions of yen) 

 Japan Overseas Total 

Present value of defined benefit obligations 88,681 46,497 135,179 

Fair value of plan assets (98,987) (22,138) (121,125) 

Net defined benefit liability (asset) (10,306) 24,359 14,053 

Amounts in the consolidated statement of 

financial position 
   

Assets (other non-current assets) (10,306) (315) (10,621) 

Liabilities (retirement benefit liabilities) － 24,674 24,674 
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As of 31 March 2025 

(Millions of yen)  

 Japan Overseas Total 

Present value of defined benefit obligations 77,536 45,685 123,221 

Fair value of plan assets (96,573) (23,402) (119,974) 

Net defined benefit liability (asset) (19,036) 22,283 3,247 

Amounts in the consolidated statement of 

financial position 
   

Assets (other non-current assets) (19,036) (462) (19,499) 

Liabilities (retirement benefit liabilities) － 22,746 22,746 
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The movement of the present value of defined benefit obligations is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 Japan Overseas Total 

Balance at 1 April 2023 95,551 38,951 134,502 

Current service cost 3,228 2,195 5,423 

Interest cost 1,264 1,418 2,682 

Remeasurements of defined benefit 

obligations 
   

−actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in demographic assumptions 
50 236 286 

−actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in financial assumptions 
(4,082) (138) (4,220) 

−other (96) 350 254 

Past service cost, and gains and losses 

arising from settlements 
－ 167 167 

Contributions to the plan by plan 

participants 
－ 175 175 

Payments from the plan (7,234) (1,907) (9,141) 

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, 

and other 
－ 5,051 5,051 

Balance at 31 March 2024 88,681 46,497 135,179 

Current service cost 2,641 1,956 4,597 

Interest cost 1,481 1,494 2,975 

Remeasurements of defined benefit 

obligations 
   

−actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in demographic assumptions 
104 (2) 102 

−actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in financial assumptions 
(6,725) (2,450) (9,175) 

−other 337 546 883 

Contributions to the plan by plan 

participants 
－ 209 209 

Payments from the plan (8,983) (1,743) (10,727) 

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, 

and other 
－ (821) (821) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 77,536 45,685 123,221 
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The movement of fair value of plan assets is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 Japan Overseas Total 

Balance at 1 April 2023 94,921 17,121 112,042 

Interest income 1,251 688 1,939 

Remeasurements of the fair value of the 

plan assets 
   

−return on plan assets 3,039 95 3,133 

−actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in financial assumptions 
324 1,114 1,438 

Contributions to the plan    

−by employer 6,687 1,209 7,896 

−by plan participants － 175 175 

Payments from the plan (7,234) (815) (8,049) 

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, 

and other 
－ 2,551 2,551 

Balance at 31 March 2024 98,987 22,138 121,125 

Interest income 1,648 766 2,415 

Remeasurements of the fair value of the 

plan assets 
   

−return on plan assets (2,199) 7 (2,191) 

−actuarial gains/losses arising from 

changes in financial assumptions 
686 (107) 578 

Contributions to the plan    

−by employer 6,433 1,185 7,618 

−by plan participants － 209 209 

Payments from the plan (8,983) (519) (9,502) 

Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates, 

and other 
－ (277) (277) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 96,573 23,402 119,974 

(Note)  The Group expects to contribute ¥8,274 million, including risk-related premiums, to its defined benefit plans in 

the fiscal year ending 31 March 2026. 



- 49 - 

The breakdown of the fair value of plan assets is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Japan   

Equity 18,282 16,513 

Bonds 40,854 34,088 

Cash and other investments 39,851 45,971 

Total 98,987 96,573 

Overseas   

Equity 6,485 6,771 

Bonds 5,335 7,878 

Cash and other investments 10,317 8,753 

Total 22,138 23,402 

Total fair value of plan assets 121,125 119,974 

 

(i) Japanese plan assets 

Equity comprises mainly investment trust funds and it is categorised as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The 

fair values of bonds are measured using quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, 

and they are categorised as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. Cash and other investments include alternative 

investments. 

 

(ii) Overseas plan assets 

Equity is mainly composed of investments with quoted prices in active markets or with measured value using quoted 

prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, and they are mainly categorised as Level 1 or 

Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of bonds are measured using quoted prices in active markets 

or quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active, and they are categorised as Level 1 or 

Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. Cash and other investments include alternative investments. 

 

Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption are as follows: 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Discount rate (%)   

Japan 1.4% to 1.7% 2.1% to 2.4% 

Overseas 3.3% to 4.8% 3.7% to 5.7% 

 

The impact of a 0.5% increase or decrease in the discount rate as significant actuarial assumption used on the defined 

benefit obligations as of 31 March 2025 would result in an ¥11,600 million decrease or an ¥12,703 million increase, 

respectively, in the defined benefit obligation. 

 

The sensitivity analysis does not consider correlations between assumptions, assuming that all other assumptions are 

held constant. In practice, changes in some of the assumptions may occur in a correlated manner. When calculating the 

sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations, the same method has been applied as calculating the defined benefit 

obligations recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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The weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligations is as follows: 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Japan 13.1 years 13.2 years 

Overseas 15.5 years 14.5 years 

 

 

26. Provisions 
The movement of provisions for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 Pharma Fee Other Total 

Balance at 1 April 2023 12,684 11,708 24,392 

Increase during the year 5,928 6,013 11,941 

Decrease due to intended use 

during the year 
(9,879) (5,681) (15,559) 

Decrease due to reversal during 

the year 
－ (479) (479) 

Other 1,584 1,191 2,775 

Balance at 31 March 2024 10,317 12,752 23,069 

Non-current 2,377 4,992 7,369 

Current 7,940 7,760 15,700 

Total provisions 10,317 12,752 23,069 

 

The movement of provisions for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 Pharma Fee Other Total 

Balance at 1 April 2024 10,317 12,752 23,069 

Increase during the year 7,563 8,726 16,289 

Decrease due to intended use 

during the year 
(6,298) (5,923) (12,221) 

Decrease due to reversal during 

the year 
－ (1,410) (1,410) 

Other (113) (194) (307) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 11,469 13,952 25,421 

Non-current 2,733 5,397 8,130 

Current 8,736 8,555 17,291 

Total provisions 11,469 13,952 25,421 

(Note) Provision was recorded to provide for the expected payment of the pharma fee to the U.S. government after the 

end of the fiscal year, which is paid based on the actual sales of branded prescription drugs, etc. in the United 

States. The outflow of economic benefits is mainly expected within one year after the end of each fiscal year. 
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27. Other Liabilities 
The breakdown of other liabilities is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Other non-current liabilities   

Other long-term employee benefit 

obligations 
44,599 48,151 

Refund liabilities 1,817 4,432 

Other 2,547 986 

Total other non-current liabilities 48,962 53,569 

Other current liabilities   

Accrued expenses 155,233 169,119 

Refund liabilities 307,654 348,021 

Other 13,588 18,113 

Total other current liabilities 476,474 535,254 

(Note) The Group mainly recognises refund liabilities for rebates related to U.S. Medicaid, U.S. Medicare and U.S. 

Managed Care programs. The Group deducts the rebates from gross revenue as variable consideration in the 

same period that the corresponding revenues are recognised, and recognises refund liabilities to provide for 

refunds expected to be paid after the end of the fiscal year. In estimating refund liabilities, the Group estimates the 

expected value based on the identification of the products subject to each rebate program, product sales forecasts, 

rebate rates based on current pricing, executed contracts and government pricing legislation, and trends of prior 

year actual sales. However, as these estimates entail uncertainties the actual rebate payment may differ from the 

estimated amount. 

 

 

28. Trade and Other Payables 
The breakdown of trade and other payables is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Trade payables 81,226 87,037 

Other payables 106,166 100,803 

Total trade and other payables 187,392 187,840 
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29. Financial Instruments 
(1) Capital management 

The Group’s capital management principle is to maintain an optimal capital structure by improving capital efficiency 

and ensuring sound and flexible financial conditions in order to achieve sustained improvement in the enterprise value, 

which will lead to improved return to shareholders. 

The Group monitors financial indicators in order to maintain an optimal capital structure. Credit ratings are 

monitored for financial soundness and flexibility, and so is return on equity attributable to owners of the parent (ROE) 

for capital efficiency. The Group is not subject to material capital regulation. 

 

(2) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The breakdown of financial assets and financial liabilities is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

 Non-current Current Total Non-current Current Total 

Financial assets       

Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 1) 60,613 93 60,706 65,226 1,504 66,729 

Financial assets measured at amortised 

cost 
      

Trade and other receivables 20,043 534,985 555,028 18,453 632,525 650,978 

Loans and other financial assets 

(Note 1) 
7,719 28,690 36,410 6,589 28,437 35,026 

Cash and cash equivalents － 335,687 335,687 － 188,372 188,372 

Financial assets at FVTOCI (equity 

instruments) (Note 1) 
40,362 － 40,362 34,381 － 34,381 

Total financial assets 128,737 899,456 1,028,193 124,648 850,837 975,485 

Financial liabilities       

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Note 2) 34,381 80,526 114,907 16,371 3,046 19,417 

Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost 
      

Bonds and borrowings 447,738 472,278 920,016 564,893 266,533 831,425 

Trade and other payables 2,199 185,193 187,392 － 187,840 187,840 

Lease liabilities (Note 2) 70,756 14,944 85,701 89,326 16,335 105,662 

Other (Note 2) 212 2,095 2,306 103 762 865 

Derivatives to which hedge accounting is 

applied (Note 2) 
253 － 253 959 － 959 

Total financial liabilities 555,539 755,036 1,310,575 671,652 474,516 1,146,168 

(Notes) 1. This is included in “Other financial assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 2. This is included in “Other financial liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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The breakdown of bonds and borrowings is as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Average 
interest rate 

(Note 1) 
Final maturity 

Bonds 250,000 320,000 (Note 2) (Note 2) 

Current portion of bonds － 30,000 (Note 2) － 

Long-term borrowings 197,738 244,893 1.0% 2027 

Current portion of long-term borrowings 51,885 51,658 2.8% － 

Commercial papers 285,000 164,874 0.1% － 

Short-term borrowings 135,393 20,000 0.8% － 

Total bonds and borrowings 920,016 831,425 － － 

(Notes) 1. The average interest rates were calculated using the outstanding balance and interest rate at the end of the 

fiscal year ended 31 March 2025. 

 2. Refer to the details of bonds. 

 

The details of bonds are as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

Issuer Name Issue date 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Interest 
rate 
(%) 

Maturity date 

The 
Company 

Astellas Series 
1 Unsecured 

Corporate 
Bonds 

5 December 
2022 

30,000 30,000 0.260 
5 December 

2025 

The 
Company 

Astellas Series 
2 Unsecured 

Corporate 
Bonds 

5 December 
2022 

20,000 20,000 0.419 
3 December 

2027 

The 
Company 

Astellas Series 
3 Unsecured 

Corporate 
Bonds 

31 August 
2023 

100,000 100,000 0.320 
31 August 

2026 

The 
Company 

Astellas Series 
4 Unsecured 

Corporate 
Bonds 

31 August 
2023 

100,000 100,000 0.519 
31 August 

2028 

The 
Company 

Astellas Series 
5 Unsecured 

Corporate 
Bonds 

9 September 
2024 

－ 80,000 0.870 
7 September 

2029 

The 
Company 

Astellas Series 
6 Unsecured 

Corporate 
Bonds 

9 September 
2024 

－ 20,000 1.038 
9 September 

2031 

Total － － 250,000 350,000 － － 

 

Equity instruments held for the purpose of maintaining and strengthening relationships in line with the Group’s 

pharmaceutical business strategy etc., have been designated by the Group as financial assets at FVTOCI. 

The breakdown of equity instruments designated as financial assets at FVTOCI are as follows. Fair values of 

investments in each investee company are not material. 

(Millions of yen) 

Description 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Quoted equity shares 9,518 2,490 

Unquoted equity shares 30,844 31,890 

 

In the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, the Group disposed of and derecognised certain equity instruments 
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designated as financial assets at FVTOCI through sales and other means, mainly for the purpose of revising business 

relationships. 

The fair value and cumulative gain and loss at the time of disposal were as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Fair value 6 12,709 

Cumulative gain and loss (407) 10,369 

For the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, cumulative gains and losses (after-tax) transferred from other 

components of equity to retained earnings due to derecognition and a significant decrease in the fair value of equity 

instruments designated as financial assets at FVTOCI were ¥(4,664) million and ¥5,177 million, respectively. 

 

(3) Financial risk management policy 

The Group is exposed to financial risks such as credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk in 

operating businesses. To mitigate them, it manages risks in accordance with certain policies and procedures. 

The Group uses derivatives only for the purpose of hedging financial risks and does not use them for speculative 

purposes. 

 

(i) Credit risk 

(a) Credit risk management 

Receivables, such as trade receivables, resulting from the business activities of the Group are exposed to the 

customer’s credit risk. This risk is managed by grasping the financial condition of the customer and monitoring 

the trade receivables balance. Also, the Group reviews collectability of trade receivables depending on the credit 

conditions of customers and recognises loss allowances as necessary. 

Securities held by the Group are exposed to the issuer’s credit risk, and deposits are exposed to the credit 

risk of banks. Also, derivative transactions that the Group conducts in order to hedge financial risks are exposed 

to the credit risk of the financial institutions which are counterparties of those transactions. In regard to securities 

transactions and deposit transactions in fund management, the Group only deals with banks and issuers with 

certain credit ratings and manages investments within the defined period and credit limit, in accordance with 

Global Cash Investment Policy and Global Treasury Policy. In addition, regarding derivative transactions, the 

Group only deals with financial institutions with certain credit ratings in accordance with Global Treasury Policy. 

 

(b) Concentrations of credit risk 

The Group is not exposed to any credit risk excessively concentrated in a specific counterparty or group to which 

a specific counterparty belongs. 

 

(c) Maximum exposure to credit risk 

Other than guaranteed obligations, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risks without taking into account 

any collateral held or other credit enhancements is the carrying amount of financial instruments less impairment 

losses in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s maximum exposures to credit risks of 

guaranteed obligations are not material. 
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The credit risk exposure of financial assets measured at amortised cost as of 31 March 2024 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

measured at an 
amount equal to 

12-month 
expected credit 

losses 

Financial assets for which loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses 

Total 

Financial assets 
on which credit 

risk has 
increased 

significantly 
since initial 
recognition 

Credit-impaired 
financial assets 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

always 
measured at an 
amount equal to 

lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 

Trade and other receivables 40,345 － 2 517,874 558,221 

Loans and other financial assets 32,243 － － 4,168 36,412 

Total 72,588 － 2 522,042 594,633 

 

The movement of loss allowances for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

measured at an 
amount equal to 

12-month 
expected credit 

losses 

Financial assets for which loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses 

Total 

Financial assets 
on which credit 

risk has 
increased 

significantly 
since initial 
recognition 

Credit-impaired 
financial assets 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

always 
measured at an 
amount equal to 

lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 

Balance at 1 April 2023 － － 2 1,991 1,993 

Increase during the year － － － 2,158 2,158 

Decrease due to intended use 

during the year 
－ － － (908) (908) 

Decrease due to reversal during 

the year 
－ － (0) (257) (257) 

Other － － － 208 208 

Balance at 31 March 2024 － － 2 3,192 3,195 
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The credit risk exposure of financial assets measured at amortised cost as of 31 March 2025 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

measured at an 
amount equal to 

12-month 
expected credit 

losses 

Financial assets for which loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses 

Total 

Financial assets 
on which credit 

risk has 
increased 

significantly 
since initial 
recognition 

Credit-impaired 
financial assets 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

always 
measured at an 
amount equal to 

lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 

Trade and other receivables 36,939 － 2 619,513 656,454 

Loans and other financial assets 31,448 － － 3,580 35,028 

Total 68,387 － 2 623,093 691,482 

 

The movement of loss allowances for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

measured at an 
amount equal to 

12-month 
expected credit 

losses 

Financial assets for which loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses 

Total 

Financial assets 
on which credit 

risk has 
increased 

significantly 
since initial 
recognition 

Credit-impaired 
financial assets 

Financial assets 
for which loss 
allowance is 

always 
measured at an 
amount equal to 

lifetime 
expected credit 

losses 

Balance at 1 April 2024 － － 2 3,192 3,195 

Increase during the year － － － 3,353 3,353 

Decrease due to intended use 

during the year 
－ － － (996) (996) 

Decrease due to reversal during 

the year 
－ － (0) (84) (84) 

Other － － － 11 11 

Balance at 31 March 2025 － － 2 5,476 5,479 

 

(ii) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk management 

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk that the Group might have difficulty settling financial obligations. However, the 

Group is maintaining the liquidity on hand that enables the Group to meet the assumed repayment of financial 

obligations and respond flexibly to strategic investment opportunities. Also, the balance is reported monthly to the 

Chief Financial Officer. In addition, the Company has concluded commitment line agreements with counterparty 

financial institutions. The Company uses them as well as uncommitted facilities and commercial papers to mitigate 

liquidity risk. The balances of unexecuted borrowings under the commitment line agreements as of 31 March 2024 

and 2025 are both ¥200,000 million. 
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Financial liabilities by maturity date are as follows: 

 

As of 31 March 2024 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

Within one 
year 

Between 
one year and 

two years 

Between 
two years 

and five years 

Over 
five years 

Bonds and borrowings 920,016 933,436 479,148 86,263 368,025 － 

Trade and other 

payables 
187,392 187,392 185,193 1,296 903 － 

Lease liabilities 85,701 144,765 15,285 13,437 24,213 91,829 

Other financial 

liabilities measured at 

amortised cost 

2,306 2,306 2,095 － 105 107 

Derivatives 1,591 1,591 1,273 174 144 － 

Total 1,197,007 1,269,490 682,995 101,170 393,389 91,936 

 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Maximum 
payment 
amount 

Within one 
year 

Between 
one year 

and five years 

Over 
five years 

Contingent 

consideration 
113,568 232,849 81,800 37,223 757 

 

As of 31 March 2025 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

Within one 
year 

Between 
one year and 

two years 

Between 
two years 

and five years 

Over 
five years 

Bonds and borrowings 831,425 843,921 272,020 248,051 303,538 20,311 

Trade and other 

payables 
187,840 187,840 187,840 － － － 

Lease liabilities 105,662 147,926 16,990 14,510 30,408 86,018 

Other financial 

liabilities measured at 

amortised cost 

865 865 762 103 － － 

Derivatives 1,249 1,255 854 402 － － 

Total 1,127,041 1,181,808 478,466 263,066 333,946 106,330 

 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Maximum 
payment 
amount 

Within one 
year 

Between 
one year 

and five years 

Over 
five years 

Contingent 

consideration 
19,127 136,035 2,825 17,200 675 

 

(iii) Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk management 

The Group operates its business in many countries and regions, and the Group’s business results and financial 

position are exposed to foreign exchange risks. 

The Group considers necessity of using derivatives to mitigate foreign exchange risk on each transaction. In 
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regard to the intercompany loan in foreign currencies, the Group used foreign exchange forward contracts to mitigate 

the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on business results in the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025. The 

status of the hedge against foreign exchange risk by currency and the balance of derivative transactions are reported 

monthly to the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis 

The impact on profit before tax of the Group’s consolidated statement of income for the fiscal years ended 31 March 

2024 and 2025 in the case of a 10% appreciation of Japanese yen, which is the Company’s functional currency, 

against the U.S. dollar and euro at the end of each fiscal year is as follows. 

Also, it is based on the assumption that currencies other than the ones used for the calculation do not fluctuate 

and other change factors are held constant. 

 

(Millions of yen)  

Item 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Impact on profit before tax   

U.S. dollar (1,608) (1,034) 

Euro 6,569 (2,554) 

(Note) The above negative amounts represent the negative impact on profit before tax in the event of a 10% appreciation 

in Japanese yen. 

 

(iv) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk management 

The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities are exposed to interest rate risk. However, in order to mitigate such risk, the 

Group strives to optimise the fund procurement by combining fixed and floating interest rates and determines the 

amount, term, method, etc. of fund procurement considering the details of demand for funds, financial position and 

financing environment. The Group considers necessity of using derivatives to mitigate interest rate risk for each 

transaction. The status of the hedge against interest rate risk and the balance of derivative transactions are reported 

monthly to the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

The impact on profit before tax of the Group’s consolidated statement of income for the fiscal years ended 31 March 

2024 and 2025 in the case of a 1% rise in the interest rates of borrowings with floating interest rates held by the 

Group at the end of each fiscal year is as follows. 

Also, it is based on the assumption that other change factors are held constant. 

(Millions of yen) 

Item 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Impact on profit before tax (3,803) (2,981) 

(Note) The above negative amounts represent the negative impact on profit before tax in the event of a 1% rise in the 

interest rates. 

 

(4) Fair values of financial instruments 

(i) Financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows: 

− Level 1: Fair value measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

− Level 2: Fair value measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 

for the assets or liabilities, either directly or indirectly; and 

− Level 3: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities. 
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The level of the fair value hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level of significant input used for the 

measurement of fair value. 

The Group accounts for transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as if they occurred at the end of 

each reporting period. 

 

The breakdown of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, including their levels 

in the fair value hierarchy, is as follows: 

 

As of 31 March 2024 

(Millions of yen)  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets     

Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 1)     

Corporate-owned Life Insurance (COLI) － 26,637 － 26,637 

Derivatives － 93 － 93 

Investments in funds － － 33,976 33,976 

Financial assets at FVTOCI (equity 

instruments) (Note 1) 
    

Quoted equity shares 9,518 － － 9,518 

Unquoted equity shares － － 30,844 30,844 

Total financial assets 9,518 26,730 64,819 101,068 

Financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Note 2)     

Derivatives － 1,338 － 1,338 

Contingent consideration － － 113,568 113,568 

Derivatives to which hedge accounting is 

applied (Note 2) 
－ 253 － 253 

Total financial liabilities － 1,591 113,568 115,159 

(Notes) 1. This is included in “Other financial assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 2. This is included in “Other financial liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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As of 31 March 2025 

(Millions of yen)  

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets     

Financial assets at FVTPL (Note 1)     

Corporate-owned Life Insurance (COLI) － 28,998 － 28,998 

Derivatives － 255 － 255 

Investments in funds － － 36,228 36,228 

Other － － 1,248 1,248 

Financial assets at FVTOCI (equity 

instruments) (Note 1) 
    

Quoted equity shares 2,490 － － 2,490 

Unquoted equity shares － － 31,890 31,890 

Total financial assets 2,490 29,254 69,366 101,110 

Financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Note 2)     

Derivatives － 290 － 290 

Contingent consideration － － 19,127 19,127 

Derivatives to which hedge accounting is 

applied (Note 2) 
－ 959 － 959 

Total financial liabilities － 1,249 19,127 20,376 

(Notes) 1. This is included in “Other financial assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 2. This is included in “Other financial liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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The movement of fair value of financial instruments categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is as 

follows: 

 

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 

(1) Financial assets 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Financial assets 

at FVTPL 

Financial assets 
at FVTOCI 

(equity instruments) 
Total 

Balance at 1 April 2023 28,769 28,194 56,963 

Realised or unrealised gains (losses)    

Recognised in profit or loss (Note) (252) － (252) 

Recognised in other comprehensive income － (2,420) (2,420) 

Purchases, issues, sales, and settlements    

Purchases 6,091 2,568 8,659 

Sales or settlements (1,652) － (1,652) 

Other 1,021 2,501 3,522 

Balance at 31 March 2024 33,976 30,844 64,819 

Unrealised gains or losses on assets held at the end of 

the reporting period (Note) 
(252) － (252) 

(Note) This is included in “Finance income” and “Finance expenses” in the consolidated statement of income. 

  

 

(2) Financial liabilities 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Financial liabilities 

at FVTPL 

Balance at 1 April 2023 118,688 

Realised or unrealised gains (losses)  

Recognised in profit or loss (Note) 22,031 

Settlements (29,444) 

Other 2,293 

Balance at 31 March 2024 113,568 

Unrealised gains or losses on liabilities held at the end 

of the reporting period (Note) 
19,843 

(Note) This is included in “Other income” and “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of income. 

 

  



 

- 62 - 

For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 

(1) Financial assets 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Financial assets 

at FVTPL 

Financial assets 
at FVTOCI 

(equity instruments) 
Total 

Balance at 1 April 2024 33,976 30,844 64,819 

Realised or unrealised gains (losses)    

Recognised in profit or loss (Note 1) (2,517) － (2,517) 

Recognised in other comprehensive income － 74 74 

Purchases, issues, sales, and settlements    

Purchases 7,904 3,704 11,609 

Sales or settlements (2,499) － (2,499) 

Transfer from Level 3 (Note 2) － (1,578) (1,578) 

Other 611 (1,154) (543) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 37,476 31,890 69,366 

Unrealised gains or losses on assets held at the end of 

the reporting period (Note 1) 
(2,517) － (2,517) 

(Notes) 1. This is included in “Finance income” and “Finance expenses” in the consolidated statement of income. 

 2. Due to investee companies going public. 

 

  

 

(2) Financial liabilities 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Financial liabilities 

at FVTPL 

Balance at 1 April 2024 113,568 

Realised or unrealised gains (losses)  

Recognised in profit or loss (Note) (16,672) 

Settlements (77,851) 

Other 82 

Balance at 31 March 2025 19,127 

Unrealised gains or losses on liabilities held at the end 

of the reporting period (Note) 
(15,081) 

(Note) This is included in “Other income” and “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of income. 
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Fair values are measured as follows. 

 

The fair values of quoted equity shares categorised within Level 1 are measured using quoted market prices at the 

end of the fiscal year. 

 

The financial assets categorised within Level 2 are composed of COLI and derivatives. 

The Group possesses COLI to provide for the expected payment of a deferred compensation plan adopted by 

U.S. subsidiaries. The fair value of COLI is measured based on cash surrender value provided by the counterparty 

insurance company. 

The fair values of derivatives are measured based on prices provided by counterparty financial institutions. 

 

The financial assets categorised within Level 3 are mainly composed of investments in funds and unquoted equity 

shares. 

The fair values of investments in funds are measured based on the Group’s interest in a fund after estimating 

the fair value of the fund based on the latest available information. 

The fair values of unquoted equity shares are measured based on metrics such as the most recent available 

balance of the investee’s net assets or projections of its future profitability. 

The fair values of investments in funds and unquoted equity shares are measured by relevant divisions of the 

Company and each Group company in accordance with the Group accounting policy every reporting period. The 

results with evidence of changes in fair value are reported to a superior. 

 

The financial liabilities categorised within Level 2 are composed of derivatives. 

The fair values of derivatives are measured based on prices provided by counterparty financial institutions. 

 

The financial liabilities categorised within Level 3 are composed of contingent considerations arising from business 

combinations. 

Contingent considerations represent certain milestone payments based on progress, etc. in the development 

of the clinical programs possessed by the acquirees. The fair values of the contingent consideration are estimated 

based on the success probability of a clinical program related to the difficulty of new drug development, etc. and the 

time value of money, etc. As these estimates entail uncertainties, there is an impact such as increase in the fair 

value of contingent considerations, if the success probability of the clinical program, which is a significant 

unobservable input, is raised. 

 

In regard to financial instruments categorised within Level 3, there would be no significant changes in fair values 

when one or more of the unobservable inputs are changed to reflect reasonably possible alternative assumptions. 

 

(ii) Fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost 

Fair values are measured as follows. 

 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables, loans and other financial assets, 

and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amount approximates the fair value due to the short period of 

settlement terms. 

 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise bonds and borrowings, trade and other payables, lease 

liabilities and other financial liabilities. The carrying amount approximates the fair value due to the short period of 

settlement terms, except for bonds, long-term borrowings and lease liabilities. 

The fair values of bonds categorised within Level 2 are measured based on quoted market prices at the end 

of the fiscal year. As of 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2025, the carrying amount approximates the fair value. 

The carrying amount of long-term borrowings with floating interest rates approximates the fair value since 

market interest rates are reflected in a short period of time. The fair values of long-term borrowings with fixed interest 

rates categorised within Level 2 are measured by discounting future cash flows for the remaining period using 
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interest rates reflecting credit risk. As of 31 March 2024 and 2025, the carrying amount approximates the fair value. 

 

(5) Hedge accounting 

As described in “(3) Financial risk management policy,” “(iii) Foreign exchange risk” and “(iv) Interest rate risk,” the 

Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. In order to manage those risks, the Group considers 

necessity of using derivative transactions, i.e. foreign exchange forward contracts or interest rate swap, and application 

of hedge accounting on each transaction. The critical terms of the hedged items and the hedging instruments match 

or are closely aligned, and there are economic relationships between the hedged items and the hedging instruments. 

The hedge ratio is 1:1 in principle. 

 

(i) Fair value hedges 

The notional principal amount, carrying amount and average interest rate of the hedging instruments for each risk 

category are as follows. 

 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 
(Millions of yen) 

 Notional principal 
amount 

Carrying amount 

Average interest rate Within 

one year 

Over one 

year 
Assets 

Liabilities 

(Note) 

Interest rate risk      

Interest rate swap － 100,000 － 253 
Receivable fixed rate 0.3%, 

Payable floating rate 0.2% 

(Note) This is included in “Other financial liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 
(Millions of yen) 

 Notional principal 
amount 

Carrying amount 

Average interest rate Within 

one year 

Over one 

year 
Assets 

Liabilities 

(Note) 

Interest rate risk      

Interest rate swap － 100,000 － 959 
Receivable fixed rate 0.3%, 

Payable floating rate 0.8% 

(Note) This is included in “Other financial liabilities” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

 

The carrying amount and the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments of the hedged items for each 

risk category are as follows. 

 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 
(Millions of yen) 

 
Carrying amount 

Of which, accumulated amount 
of fair value hedge adjustments 

(Note) 

Interest rate risk   

Borrowings with fixed 

interest rates 
99,911 (89) 

(Note) This is included in “Bonds and borrowings” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
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Fiscal year ended 31 March 2025 
(Millions of yen) 

 
Carrying amount 

Of which, accumulated amount 
of fair value hedge adjustments 

(Note) 

Interest rate risk   

Borrowings with fixed 

interest rates 
99,063 (937) 

(Note) This is included in “Bonds and borrowings” in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

(ii) Cash flow hedges 

The movement of other components of equity and analysis of other comprehensive income for each risk category 

are as follows. 

 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 
(Millions of yen) 

 Foreign exchange risk 

Cash flow hedges Hedging cost Total 

Balance at 1 April 2023 － － － 

Amount arising during the year (7,682) 1,671 (6,011) 

Reclassification adjustment (Note) － 427 427 

Transfer to non-financial assets 7,682 (2,098) 5,584 

Balance at 31 March 2024 － － － 

(Note) This is included in “Other income” in the consolidated statement of income. 
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30. Leases 
The Group mainly leases buildings and structures and machinery and vehicles. There are no variable lease payments, 

residual value guarantees, restrictions or covenants imposed by leases, or sale and leaseback transactions. 

There are also no significant leases not yet commenced to which the lessee is committed. 

 

The breakdown of expenses or income related to leases is as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets   

Buildings and structures 12,627 13,010 

Machinery and vehicles 2,664 3,392 

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 409 449 

Land 13 18 

Total depreciation 15,712 16,869 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 3,990 4,605 

Expense relating to short-term leases 165 141 

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets 34 69 

Income from subleasing right-of-use assets (Note) 210 168 

(Note) Finance income on the net investment in the lease for finance leases 

 

The breakdown of right-of-use assets is as follows: 

(Millions of yen) 

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Buildings and structures 56,671 72,931 

Machinery and vehicles 7,580 8,502 

Equipment, furniture and fixtures 928 994 

Land － 66 

Total right-of-use assets 65,179 82,492 

 

The total cash outflow for leases for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 amounted to ¥17,435 million and 

¥17,894 million, respectively. 

 

For details on the increase in right-of-use assets and maturity analysis on lease liabilities, please refer to Note “15. 

Property, Plant and Equipment” and “(ii) Liquidity risk” under Note “29. Financial Instruments (3),” respectively. 
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31. Cash flow information 
(1) Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 

The breakdown of assets and liabilities in the subsidiaries over which control is obtained and consideration paid in 

respect of obtaining control of subsidiaries are as follows. 

 

Fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 

 (Millions of yen) 

Non-current assets 910,067 

Current assets 56,973 

Non-current liabilities (153,298) 

Current liabilities (27,728) 

Basis adjustments (5,584) 

Goodwill 43,610 

Total consideration paid (cash and cash equivalents) 824,040 

Cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiaries over which control is 

obtained 

(44,650) 

Basis adjustments 5,584 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 784,974 

(Note) A major subsidiary over which control is obtained is IVERIC bio, Inc. For details of the business combination, please 

refer to Note “34. Business Combinations.” 

 

(2) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are as follows: 

  (Millions of yen) 

 Bonds 
Long-term 
borrowings 

Commercial 
papers 

Short-term 
borrowings 

Lease 
liabilities 

Derivative 
liabilities 

(assets) to 
hedge 

liabilities 

Total 

Balance at 1 April 2023 50,000 － 75,000 － 75,007 － 200,007 

Changes arising from 

cash flows 
200,000 246,896 210,000 114,337 (13,246) (7,174) 750,813 

Business combinations － － － 15,079 － － 15,079 

Non-cash changes        

New leases and 

modifications 
－ － － － 16,130 － 16,130 

Changes in fair values － － － － － 8,672 8,672 

Other － 2,727 － 5,976 7,809 － 16,512 

Balance at 31 March 2024 250,000 249,623 285,000 135,393 85,701 1,498 1,007,215 

Changes arising from 

cash flows 
100,000 47,927 (120,740) (115,709) (13,079) (10,260) (111,861) 

Non-cash changes        

New leases and 

modifications 
－ － － － 34,025 － 34,025 

Changes in fair values － － － － － 9,755 9,755 

Other － (999) 614 316 (985) － (1,054) 

Balance at 31 March 2025 350,000 296,551 164,874 20,000 105,662 993 938,080 

(Note) 1. Increase by “Business combinations” was due to the acquisition of IVERIC bio, Inc. For details of the business 

combination, please refer to Note “34. Business Combinations.” 

 2. “Other” mainly includes exchange differences. 
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 3. “Bonds” includes the current portion of bonds. 

 4. “Long-term borrowings” includes the current portion of long-term borrowings. 

 

32. Commitments 
The breakdown of commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets is as follows: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
As of 

31 March 2024 
As of 

31 March 2025 

Intangible assets   

Research and development milestone payments 479,702 353,263 

Sales milestone payments 608,736 534,941 

Total 1,088,438 888,204 

Property, plant and equipment 16,251 17,601 

 

Commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets 

The Group has entered into research and development collaborations and in-license agreements of products and 

technologies with some alliance partners. Under these agreements, the Group is obliged to make milestone payments 

upon the achievement of agreed objectives or when certain conditions are met as defined in the agreements. 

“Research and development milestone payments” represent obligations to pay the amount set out in an individual 

contract agreement upon achievement of a milestone determined according to the stage of research and development. 

“Sales milestone payments” represent obligations to pay the amount set out in an individual contract agreement 

upon achievement of a milestone determined according to the target of sales. 

 

The amounts shown in the table above represent the maximum payments to be made when all milestones are 

achieved, and they are undiscounted and not risk adjusted. Since the achievement of the conditions for payment is 

highly uncertain, it is unlikely that they will all fall due and the amounts of the actual payments may vary considerably 

from those stated in the table. 

 
 

33. Related Party Transactions 
(1) Major subsidiaries 

A list of major subsidiaries is available on the Company’s website (https://www.astellas.com/en/). 

 

(2) Compensation of key management personnel 

The table below shows, by the type, the compensation of key management personnel: 

(Millions of yen)  

 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2024 
Fiscal year ended 

31 March 2025 

Remunerations and salaries 1,845 2,688 

Share-based payments 745 1,016 

Other 30 1,098 

Total compensation 2,620 4,803 

 

Key management personnel consist of the Group’s Directors and members of the Executive Committee, and the 

numbers of such personnel for the fiscal years ended 31 March 2024 and 2025 were 18 and 19, respectively. 
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34. Business Combinations 
For the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 

 

Acquisition of IVERIC bio, Inc. 

(1) Outline of the business combination 

(i) Name and business description of the acquiree 

Name of the acquiree IVERIC bio, Inc. (“Iveric Bio”) 

Business Description Research & development of pharmaceutical products 

 

(ii) Acquisition date 

11 July 2023, U.S. Eastern Time  

 

(iii) Percentage of voting equity interests acquired 

100% 

 

(iv) Acquisition method 

Acquisition of all shares of stock in cash 

 

(v) Primary reasons for the business combination 

The Company aims to become a cutting-edge, VALUE-driven life science innovator to realise its VISION to be “on 

the forefront of healthcare change to turn innovative science into VALUE for patients.” Through the Company’s 

Research and Development strategy, Focus Area Approach, it is working to create innovative drugs for diseases with 

high unmet medical need by identifying unique combinations of biology and therapeutic modality / technology from 

multiple perspectives. Currently, the Company has identified five Primary Focuses, including “Blindness & 

Regeneration,” and is prioritising investment resources in these areas. As such, the acquisition of Iveric Bio is a key 

step in building the Company’s product portfolio in this important area. 

Iveric Bio focuses on the discovery and development of novel treatments in the field of ophthalmology. The U.S. 

Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved IZERVAY™ (avacincaptad pegol intravitreal solution) for the 

treatment of geographic atrophy (GA) secondary to age-related macular degeneration (AMD) on 4 August 2023. 

Avacincaptad pegol (ACP), a complement C5 inhibitor, is an investigational drug for GA secondary to AMD and 

has significant potential to deliver value to a large and underserved patient base. ACP met its primary efficacy 

endpoint (reduction of the rate of GA progression) with statistical significance across two pivotal clinical trials, 

(GATHER 1 and 2 Clinical Trials) and has received breakthrough therapy designation from the FDA for this indication. 

The Company expects not only that the acquisition of ACP, the lead program of Iveric Bio, will contribute to the 

Company’s fiscal year 2025 revenue targets set in its Corporate Strategic Plan 2021, but also that ACP, in conjunction 

with fezolinetant and PADCEV, will be a revenue-generating pillar to help compensate for the decline in sales of 

XTANDI due to anticipated loss of exclusivity later this decade. 

In addition, the acquisition of Iveric Bio will provide a foundation of ophthalmology focused capabilities, including 

a multi-faceted commercial team, expansive network of experts in the ophthalmology field, and established 

relationships with medical institutions. Furthermore, through acquired capabilities, the Company will accelerate 

clinical development and commercialisation activities to positively contribute to the goals of Primary Focus, 

“Blindness & Regeneration.” 
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(2) The fair values of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and purchase consideration transferred as at the 

acquisition date are as follows: 

  (Millions of yen)  

 

Provisional fair 
value as of 

30 September 2023 

Fair value 
adjustments 

Fair value 
(as adjusted) 

Intangible assets  

(in-process research & 

development) 

884,331  － 884,331  

Financial assets at FVTOCI (debt 

instruments) 
9,986  － 9,986  

Cash and cash equivalents 44,649  － 44,649  

Other assets 2,607  － 2,607  

Deferred tax liabilities (149,046) (4,252) (153,298) 

Short-term borrowings (15,079) － (15,079) 

Other liabilities (7,984) － (7,984) 

Fair values of assets acquired 

and liabilities assumed (net) 
769,464   (4,252) 765,212  

Basis adjustments (5,584) － (5,584) 

Goodwill 35,236  8,374  43,610  

Total 799,116  4,122  803,238  

    

Total fair value of purchase 

consideration transferred 
799,116  4,122  803,238  

The initial accounting for the business combination was incomplete as of 31 March 2024 and the fair value was 

provisional. As of 31 March 2025, the fair value measurement of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and purchase 

consideration transferred at the acquisition date is complete. 

The fair values of intangible assets (in-process research and development) are calculated using the income 

approach, in which assumptions such as the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities, 

projected sales after product launch and discount rates are used. 

Goodwill mainly comprises the value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition and future economic 

benefits, which is not separately recognised. 

 

(3) Cash flow information 

 (Millions of yen) 

Total fair value of purchase consideration transferred 803,238 

Cash and cash equivalents held by the acquiree (44,649) 

Basis adjustments 5,584 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 764,173 

In addition, the Group separated payment for Iveric Bio’s unvested share-based payments, such as share options, 

from the business combination and recognised ¥33,434 million as “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement 

of income. 

 

(4) Acquisition-related costs 

¥3,614 million 

Acquisition-related costs were recognised in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 

statement of income. 
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(5) Effect on the consolidated statement of income 

(i) Profit (loss) before tax of the acquiree since the acquisition date included in the consolidated statement of income 

for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024: 

¥(107,506) million 

(Note) This amount includes payment of ¥33,434 million for Iveric Bio’s unvested share-based payments, such 

as share options, which is recognised separately from the business combination. 

(ii) Effect on profit (loss) before tax in the consolidated statement of income for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2024 

assuming the acquisition date had been at the beginning of the fiscal year (unaudited):  

¥(52,765) million 

(Note) This effect is calculated based on Iveric Bio’s financial results for the period from 1 April 2023 to the 

acquisition date. 

 

 

35. Contingent Liabilities 

Legal Proceedings 

The Group is involved in various claims and legal proceedings of a nature considered common to the pharmaceutical 

industry. These proceedings are generally related to product liability claims, competition and antitrust law, intellectual 

property matters, employment claims, and government investigations. In general, since litigation and other legal 

proceedings entail many uncertainties and complex factors, it is often not possible to make reliable judgement 

regarding the possibility of losses nor to estimate expected financial effect if these matters are decided in a manner 

that is adverse to the Group. In these cases, disclosures would be made as appropriate, but no provision would be 

made by the Group. 

In addition, there were no material contingent liabilities required to be disclosed as at the date of submission. 

 

 

36. Subsequent Events 

Not applicable. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

 

 

The Board of Directors 

Astellas Pharma Inc. 

 

 

The Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Astellas Pharma Inc. 

and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 

as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 

changes in equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 

Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 

addressed in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming the auditor’s opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
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Assessment on the necessity of impairment of in-process research and development (IPR&D) 

recognised as intangible assets related to new drug development 

Description of Key Audit Matter 

As discussed in “Note 3 Material Accounting Policies” and “Note 17 Intangible Assets” to the 

consolidated financial statements, among rights related to products or research and development 

acquired separately or through business combinations, those that are still in the research and 

development stage or those that marketing approvals have not yet been obtained from regulatory 

authorities and thus have not yet been launched are recognised as intangible assets not yet 

available for use under IPR&D. The Group recognised IPR&D of ¥146,685 million, which 

represented 4.4% of total assets, as of 31 March 2025. For the fiscal year ended 31 March 

2025, an impairment loss recognised for IPR&D was ¥171,778 million. This impairment loss 

was recognised mainly for IZERVAY (avacincaptad pegol intravitreal solution) for the 

treatment of geographic atrophy secondary to age-related macular degeneration, for which 

development is currently underway outside the U.S., and gene therapy program AT466 for 

patients with myotonic dystrophy, for which research and development is currently underway. 

The Group does not amortise IPR&D because it is not yet available for use until marketing 

approvals from regulatory authorities are obtained and the asset becomes available for use, but 

instead, it is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment or annually at 

the same time each year irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

In testing IPR&D for impairment, the Group measures the recoverable amount at the higher of 

fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount of IPR&D is measured 

using value in use mainly based on future forecasts. A number of assumptions are incorporated 

into the calculation of value in use depending on the nature of each case. Significant assumptions 

thereof are the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities, projected 

sales after product launch and discount rates. 

Considering the following, we determined this matter to be a key audit matter of the consolidated 

financial statements. 

・In the pharmaceutical business in which the Group operates, pharmaceutical products are 

generally classified as “prescription drugs” or “over the counter drugs”. Prescription drugs 

are prescribed based on diagnoses by physicians, among others, and classified as “new drugs 

(branded medicines)” or “generic drugs (generic medicines)”. The Group focuses on prescription 

drugs, particularly in the new drug development business where it can play to its strengths, 

and has made multiple acquisitions and in-licensing deals to expand its pipeline of new drug 

candidates. As a result, significant amount of IPR&D has been recognised as intangible 

assets related to new drug development. In addition, there are many cases where there is a 

large amount of IPR&D per project, and there is often significant impairment loss when 

such impairment loss is recognised due to events such as the termination of research and 

development. Therefore, assessing the necessity of impairment significantly impacts the 

Group’s financial position and financial performance. 



 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

・The efficacy, safety, and quality of new drugs are generally examined through the process 

of basic research, nonclinical studies and clinical research (clinical trials) over a period of 

10 years or more, and entail uncertainty as to whether the drugs can obtain marketing approvals 

from regulatory authorities. In addition, as a general feature of the new drug development 

business, if a new drug is successfully developed and marketing approvals can be obtained 

from regulatory authorities as expected, the recoverable amount significantly exceeds the 

carrying amount of IPR&D and impairment often does not occur. However, if development 

fails and marketing approvals cannot be obtained from regulatory authorities, the recoverable 

amount becomes zero and impairment loss is often recognised for related IPR&D. Therefore, 

estimating the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities is 

important and requires significant judgements by management based on factors such as the 

status of product development and discussions with regulatory authorities. 

・Estimating projected sales after product launch also requires significant judgements by 

management based on factors such as the status of product development and discussions 

with regulatory authorities. 

・Estimation of discount rates requires a high degree of valuation expertise. 

Auditor’s Response 

We mainly performed the following procedures to consider the assessment on the necessity 

of impairment of IPR&D recognised as intangible assets related to new drug development. 

・In order to consider the probability of obtaining marketing approvals from regulatory authorities, 

we gained an understanding of management’s estimation techniques, and for cases deemed 

necessary, obtained materials of its basis and evaluated the estimation techniques. In addition, 

through inquiries of management and personnel in charge of responsible departments, we 

gained an understanding of the status of product development and discussions with 

regulatory authorities. Moreover, for cases deemed necessary, we inspected minutes of 

meetings in which decisions were made regarding research and development and evaluated 

management’s explanations and, for products under development, we considered whether 

there were any events that could trigger termination of development. 

・In order to consider projected sales after product launch, we gained an understanding of 

management’s estimation techniques, and for cases deemed necessary, obtained materials of 

its basis and evaluated the estimation techniques. In addition, for cases deemed necessary, 

we inspected minutes of meetings in which decisions were made regarding research and 

development, evaluated management's explanations and, for products under development, 

we considered whether there were any events, such as a major revision in the target patient 

population, with a significant impact on projected sales. 

・In order to consider discount rates, we evaluated management’s estimation techniques by 

involving valuation specialists of our network firms for cases deemed necessary. 
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Estimation of rebates related to U.S. Medicaid, U.S. Medicare and U.S. Managed Care programs  

recognised as refund liabilities 

Description of Key Audit Matter 

As discussed in “Note 27 Other Liabilities” to the consolidated financial statements, the Group 

recognised refund liabilities of ¥352,453 million, which represented 19.3% of total liabilities, 

as of 31 March 2025. The recognised refund liabilities were mainly for rebates related to U.S. 

Medicaid, U.S. Medicare and U.S. Managed Care programs (“U.S. Rebates”), which are 

health care insurance systems. The Group deducts U.S. Rebates from gross revenue as variable 

consideration in the same period that the corresponding revenues are recognised, and recognises 

refund liabilities to provide for refunds expected to be paid after the end of the fiscal year. In 

estimating U.S. Rebates, the Group estimates the expected value based on the identification of 

the products subject to each rebate program, product sales forecasts, rebate rates based on current 

pricing, executed contracts and government pricing legislation, and trends of prior year actual 

sales. 

The calculations involved in estimating U.S. Rebates are complex and management’s judgements 

affect the amount of refund liabilities and revenues. In addition, the Group’s sales volume in 

the U.S. continues to be large and, accordingly, the related U.S. Rebates recognised for these sales 

are quantitatively significant. Thus, we determined this matter to be a key audit matter of the 

consolidated financial statements. 

Auditor’s Response 

We involved the component auditor of U.S. consolidated subsidiaries and mainly performed 

the following procedures to consider the estimation of U.S. Rebates. 

・We evaluated the design and operating effectiveness of the internal controls related to estimation 

of U.S. Rebates. 

・We recalculated rebate amounts on a sample basis and evaluated the estimation techniques 

for U.S. Rebates applied by management. 

・We evaluated the accuracy of management’s estimates by comparing U.S. Rebates recognised 

in the past with final payment amounts. 

・In considering product sales forecasts, we gained an understanding of management’s estimation 

techniques and evaluated the accuracy of past estimates.  

・In considering government pricing legislation, we involved specialists of our network firms 

and evaluated calculations of the Group. 

 

 

Other Information 

The other information comprises the information included in disclosure documents that contains 

audited consolidated financial statements but does not include the consolidated financial 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  
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We have concluded that other information does not exist. Accordingly, we have not performed 

any work related to other information. 

 

Responsibilities of Management, the Audit and Supervisory Committee for the 

Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal 

control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and disclosing, as required by IFRS Accounting 

Standards, matters related to going concern. 

The Audit and Supervisory Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial 

reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

・ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 

and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

・ Consider internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for our risk assessments, while the purpose of the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements is not expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control. 

・ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

・ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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・ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation in accordance 

with IFRS Accounting Standards. 

・ Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for 

forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and review of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our 

audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Audit and Supervisory Committee regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit and Supervisory Committee with a statement that we have complied 

with the ethical requirements regarding independence that are relevant to our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements in Japan, and to communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied to reduce threats to an 

acceptable level. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit and Supervisory Committee, we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 

current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 

report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 

report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 

the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

Convenience Translation 

The U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements with respect to 

the year ended 31 March 2025 are presented solely for convenience. Our audit also included the 

translation of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts and, in our opinion, such 

translation has been made on the basis described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

Fee-related Information 

The fees for the audits of the financial statements of Astellas Pharma Inc. and its subsidiaries 

and other services provided by us and other EY member firms for the year ended 31 March 2025 

are ¥1,948 million and ¥63 million, respectively. 
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Interest Required to Be Disclosed by the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan 

Our firm and its designated engagement partners do not have any interest in the Group which is 

required to be disclosed pursuant to the provisions of the Certified Public Accountants Act of Japan. 

Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC 

Tokyo, Japan 

6 August 2025 

Daisuke Arikura 

Daisuke Arikura 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

Kohei Koyama 

Kohei Koyama 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 

Mitsuharu Konno 

Mitsuharu Konno 

Designated Engagement Partner 

Certified Public Accountant 
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